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Fellow Shareholders,

When I joined Dun & Bradstreet in May, 
2000, I found a company that was underper-
forming, but which had a tremendous brand, 
tremendous assets, and tremendous opportunity 
for growth. I  believed then—and I am even 
more convinced now—that Dun & Bradstreet 
will be a winner in the marketplace, and will 
become a growth company that signif icantly 
builds shareholder value over time.

To unleash our unrealized potential and trans-
form Dun & Bradstreet into a growth company, 
we took a number of important steps in 2000 
and are continuing that transformative work 
in 2001. 

All of these steps were and are focused on 
increasing shareholder value. During a period 
of considerable change within the company, 
we maintained that focus. We completed the 
spin-off of Moody’s on September 30, 2000. 
We met our f inancial projections for 2000 and 
achieved a 20% growth in earnings.

Dun & Bradstreet

Allan Z. Loren
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To move our transformation as a company 
forward, we put a new leadership team in place 
whose members individually and collectively 
are committed to a common vision and a 
common aspiration: to become a growth company 
with an important presence on the Web. 

To achieve this aspiration, Dun & Bradstreet 
will build shareholder value over the next three 
years as we transform the company. During 
this period, we expect to deliver earnings 
per share growth of 10%, operating income 
growth of 10%, and revenue growth before the 
effect of foreign exchange of 3% —on average, 
over time.

Our strategy for achieving these goals is called 
our Blueprint for Growth. We determined that 
the most productive approach for the company 
is to focus on fewer things—and to do those 
things very, very well. 

In our Blueprint for Growth, we focus on f ive 
areas that will transform Dun & Bradstreet 
and ensure our future success :

Leverage the Brand
Create Financial Flexibility
Enhance the Current Business
Become an Important Player in B2B e-Commerce
Build a Winning Culture.

We introduced The Blueprint for Growth on 
October 2, 2000. As our discussion of each 
of these f ive areas in the following pages 
demonstrates, our transformation is already 
underway, and will continue during 2001. I am 
satisf ied with the work already accomplished 
and am conf ident we are on the right path to 
achieve our aspiration as a company.

I delight in pointing out that Dun & Bradstreet 
is in the enviable position of having the aspira-
tion, the drive, and the innovation of a new 
company coupled with the experience, brand 
recognition, and market presence that only a 
well-established company can provide. 

I believe that is an unbeatable combination 
upon which to build a growth company with 
an important presence on the Web. And that 
is what we will do.

Sincerely,

Allan Z. Loren
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President

Dun & Bradstreet
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The Dun & Bradstreet brand is the heart of the 
company. The brand is our most valuable asset, 
and contains enormous untapped potential. We 
are leveraging that untapped potential to help 
transform Dun & Bradstreet into a growth 
company.

Trusted brands are extremely important in the 
physical world. They will be absolutely critical 
to doing business on the Web, 
a “place” where there is only 
information, and the information 
is only as trustworthy as its 
source. We are the most trusted 
brand in business information.

Over 150,000 businesses believe 
in the brand—they are our cur-
rent customers. They value the information 
available from the largest corporate database in 
the world, a database that is updated a million 
times a day and that contains data on over 62 
million businesses in more than 200 countries. 
They value the trusted, actionable information 
we provide that allows them to make better 
business decisions. Our software integration 
tools allow customers to incorporate Dun & 
Bradstreet information into their own internal 
systems. Our D - U - N - S ®  number enables 
customers to def initively identify businesses 
and establish linkages between related business 

organizations. The Dun & Bradstreet name 
adds trust and value to data.

Today, we position our brand, our value 
proposition, in this way: “Dun & Bradstreet 
is the most trusted source for the information 
you need to make your business a success.” 
All of our new communications now ref lect 
that message. 

We are leveraging the untapped 
value that resides in our brand as 
we move most of our revenue to 
the Web, a strategic transformation 
that will increase prof itability 
and enhance customer service 
worldwide. We are capitalizing 
on the recognized value of the 

brand as we negotiate strategic partnerships 
with selected companies that want to build 
on the trust our brand evokes—dozens have 
expressed an interest already. We are rebranding 
our products to ensure that we fully leverage 
the power of the brand. For example, we have 
rebranded eccelerate.com solutions as D&B 
Information Broker and D&B Authentication 
& Verif ication Services. 

The Dun & Bradstreet brand is powerful—and 
is full of unrealized potential. We are acting in 
a focused way to release that potential.

L E V E R A G E  T H E  B R A N D

Dun & Bradstreet

“The Dun & Bradstreet  

brand is powerful— 

and is full of 

unrealized potential.”
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We understand that growth requires investment.

To generate the investment needed to transform 
Dun & Bradstreet into a growth company, we are 
reallocating $100 million of current spending. 
Our purpose in freeing up these funds is to use 
them to enhance our current business, to fund 
our B2B e-Commerce strategy, and to ensure that 
we meet our commitments to increase earnings 
per share by 10%. 

In transforming the company, we will not 
diminish current critical operating functions as we 
reallocate our spending. In fact, by focusing on 
a few things and doing them very well, we are 
actually increasing our capacity and efficiency in 
key areas. For example, we are: 

� Centralizing our administrative functions 
such as finance, communications, and human 
resources on a global level;

� Streamlining our data collection and fulfill-
ment activities by automating data collection 
and moving much of our product delivery 
to the Web;

� Making our sales and marketing activity 
more efficient by eliminating overlapping  
functions in the same geographic areas; and 

� Consolidating and simplifying our technol-
ogy function to maximize its effectiveness.

We also are looking at our international markets 
to better calibrate our investments in each market 

with the potential profit we can earn there. 
We have already announced a series of actions 
designed to improve our financial performance 
in a number of countries. For example, we have 
established agreements with local companies in 
Singapore, Malaysia, and Japan that enable us to 
better match our investment and infrastructure 
with revenue and profit potential. These initiatives 
are already improving financial performance in 
our Asia Pacific/Latin America business. We will 
achieve more successes like these over the course 
of the coming year.  

We are evaluating non-core businesses and assets 
with an eye toward converting between $200 and 
$400 million of those assets (pre-tax) into cash 
as another way to increase shareholder value. 

Our f inancial f lexibility goal is to make it 
possible to invest $100 million in our current 
business and B2B e-Commerce initiatives while 
simultaneously preserving current shareholder 
value. We are well on our way to achieving 
that goal, and that is just the beginning. We 
will continuously improve processes. We will 
continually enhance performance. And we will 
free up additional funds to invest in future 
growth opportunities. 

Dun & Bradstreet

“…we will free up additional 

funds to invest in future 

growth opportunities.”

C R E A T E  F I N A N C I A L  F L E X I B I L I T Y
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To become a growth company, we must grow 
our current business. Three areas offer especially 
attractive opportunities for revenue growth: 
our present global customers, small business, 
and the Web.

Dun & Bradstreet currently does 
business with 92% of the 
Business Week Global 1000. 
Many of these customers use only 
one or two of our four solutions, 
for example, credit and marketing, 
but not purchasing or receivable 
management. To penetrate more 
deeply and broadly across these 
global organizations, we have 
centralized all of our selling 
efforts into one global sales team 
and have identif ied product areas 
for the team to concentrate on. We believe 
there are untapped opportunities to increase 
revenue in this global customer segment of our 
current business.  

We also see a signif icant opportunity for 
growth among smaller businesses. We are 
developing a product specif ically to speak to 
small business needs. It is easy to use, Web-
based, and priced for small business customers. 
We can offer a very attractive value proposition 
to small businesses, and we believe we can 
grow our revenue from this source over the 
next three years.

We are accelerating the migration of most 
of our current business to the Web, a more 
eff icient and convenient distribution channel 
for our products and services. In 2000, we had 
$239 million of Web-based revenue, more than 

twice that of 1999. Our goal is 
to derive most of our current 
revenue via the Web by the end 
of 2002.

Our database is the core of our 
business and we constantly seek 
ways to enhance its value to our 
customers. We are making a $21 
million investment in improving 
our data, a key to increasing our 
revenues from our global customers 
and from small businesses. To 
improve the breadth and depth 

of our information, we have completed an 
exclusive agreement with WhizBang! Labs to 
use its unique software to extract valuable data 
from the Web.

Global customers, small business, the Web—
exciting growth opportunities. We are making 
investments to exploit each of them.  We are 
implementing that strategy now.

Dun & Bradstreet

“Global customers, 

small business, the 

Web—exciting growth 

opportunities. We are 

making investments 

to exploit each of 

them.”
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Dun & Bradstreet’s future includes Business-
to-Business (B2B) e-Commerce.

By 2004, we estimate that there will be $1.4 
trillion of transactions in the B2B e-Commerce 
sector that we can play a role in. Buyers and 
sellers will have to evaluate one another in order 
to complete a transaction, whether granting or 
accepting credit terms, arranging f inancing or 
insurance, or making other judgments in the 
transaction process. We will be there to help 
make that possible, either on our own through 
our traditional offerings, or in collaboration 
with strategically chosen partners with whom 
we can establish a prof itable presence in more 
B2B e-Commerce process steps. 

B2B e-Commerce will happen simply because 
it is a better business model than we have 
today. It is a more eff icient and less expensive 
way to conduct business. But the move to 
large scale B2B e-Commerce will not happen 
overnight—it will take several years. One rea-
son is that for B2B e-Commerce to work 

effectively, there will need to be a high level 
of integration in the Web and the internal 
systems of large businesses. That will take time 
and money. 

A second reason is that anonymity, a characteristic 
of the Web, is bad for commerce. However, the 
anonymity of the Web presents an opportunity 
for us. Dun & Bradstreet will bring trust and 
conf idence to the Web just as we bring it to 
the physical world. 

We are already increasing our presence in 
B2B e-Commerce. For example, we formed an 
alliance with the global insurance company 
AIG and created a new company, Avantrust, to 
provide integrated decision-making and insurance 
services to businesses on the Web. We also 
created a partnership with Open Ratings, 
a company that collects and rates vendor 
performance data, which has already led 
to fourteen alliances with B2B e-Commerce 
infrastructure providers. We are exploring 
additional partnering opportunities in buyer 
f inancing and payment guarantees as well as 
in a number of other areas.

The key to success in the B2B e-Commerce 
sector is understanding where money is to be 
made, partnering selectively to increase our 
presence in those profitable areas, and investing 
“ just ahead of the curve.” That is what we 
are doing.

B E C O M E  A N  I M P O R T A N T  P L A Y E R  I N  B2B  E - C O M M E R C E

Dun & Bradstreet

“The key to success in the 

B2B e-Commerce sector is…

to increase our presence in 

those profitable areas, and 

invest ‘just ahead of the curve’ .”
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It takes a winning team to transform a company and 
grow shareholder value, a single winning team with a 
shared focus and a shared set of values and processes. 
We are building that 
kind of team and the 
culture of winning 
to support it.

We have put a new 
leadership team in 
place. We have built strategies and processes 
for developing our existing leaders and associ-
ates, and for recruiting new leaders and associ-
ates who share our aspiration and who can 
contribute to its realization.

Our Blueprint for Growth sets out common 
goals for all Dun & Bradstreet leaders and 
associates. At the highest levels within the 
company, we will evaluate and compensate 
leaders based on achieving the same set of 
Blueprint goals, not on individual market or 
sector goals as has been the case in the past.

Execution of our Blueprint requires excellent 
performance throughout the company. To fur-
ther enable teams and individuals to achieve 
performance excellence, we have restructured 
Dun & Bradstreet to foster individual and 
team accountability, and to gain increased 
eff iciency. We also are building stronger 
leadership ability at all levels of the company. 
All Dun & Bradstreet associates will receive 

training in our Leadership Model during the 
f irst half of 2001.

Our Blueprint provides the goals, what we 
are striving toward. Our values and processes 
provide the how we will get there.

Dun & Bradstreet has chosen a set of Values, a 
set of Guiding Principles, and a set of Rules of 
Engagement which provide a framework for our 
decision-making and action. Our framework 
forms the basis for vital, respectful interactions 
among individuals and teams within Dun & 
Bradstreet; and between Dun & Bradstreet and 
our customers, communities, and shareholders. 
We are as we act, and we will act as winners.

 

S U M M A R Y

Dun & Bradstreet aspires to become a growth 
company with an important presence on the 
Web. That transformation is underway. Our 
Blueprint for Growth is in place and we are 
executing it relentlessly. We are already begin-
ning to see promising results.

Dun & Bradstreet is now a brand new company 
with a 159 year history. With our new focus, 
strategy, and team, we are conf ident we can 
make our aspiration real.

Dun & Bradstreet

“We are as we act, 

and we will act 

as winners.”

B U I L D  A  W I N N I N G  C U L T U R E
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Overview
To facilitate an analysis of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation’s 

(herein referred to as “D&B”) operating results, certain significant 

events should be considered.

2000 Distribution

On September 30, 2000, the company then known as The Dun 

& Bradstreet Corporation (“Old D&B”) separated into two inde-

pendent, publicly traded companies—The New D&B Corporation 

(“D&B”) and Moody’s Corporation (“Moody’s”). The separation was 

accomplished through a tax-free distribution to shareholders of Old 

D&B (the “2000 Distribution”) of all of the shares of common 

stock of D&B. For every two shares of common stock of Old D&B 

held, shareholders received one share of common stock of D&B. 

Following the 2000 Distribution, Old D&B was renamed “Moody’s 

Corporation” and D&B was renamed “The Dun & Bradstreet 

Corporation.”

Prior to the 2000 Distribution, Old D&B had completed an internal 

reorganization to the effect that, at the time of the 2000 Distribution, 

the business of D&B consisted solely of the business of supplying 

credit, marketing and purchasing information as well as receivable 

management services (the “D&B Business”), and the business of 

Old D&B (other than D&B and its subsidiaries) consisted solely 

of the business of providing ratings and related research and risk 

management services (the “Moody’s Business”).

Old D&B received a ruling letter from the Internal Revenue Service 

(the “IRS”) on June 15, 2000, to the effect that the receipt by 

Old D&B shareholders of the common stock of D&B in the 2000 

Distribution would be tax free to such stockholders and Old D&B 

for federal income tax purposes, except to the extent of cash received 

in lieu of fractional shares of common stock of D&B.

For purposes of, among other things, governing certain ongoing 

relations between D&B and Moody’s as a result of the 2000 

Distribution, as well as to allocate certain tax, employee benefit and 

other liabilities arising prior to the 2000 Distribution, the companies 

entered into various agreements, including a Distribution Agreement 

(the “2000 Distribution Agreement”), Tax Allocation Agreement, 

Employee Benefits Agreement, Intellectual Property Assignment, 

Shared Transaction Services Agreement, Insurance and Risk 

Management Services Agreement, Data Services Agreement and 

Transition Services Agreement.

In general, pursuant to the terms of the 2000 Distribution Agreement, 

all of the assets of the D&B Business have been allocated to D&B 

and all of the assets of the Moody’s Business have been allocated 

to Moody’s. The 2000 Distribution Agreement also provided for 

assumptions of liabilities and cross-indemnities designed to allocate 

generally, as of September 30, 2000, financial responsibility for: (i) 

all liabilities arising out of or in connection with the D&B Business 

to D&B, (ii) all liabilities arising out of or in connection with 

the Moody’s Business to Moody’s, and (iii) substantially all other 

liabilities as of September 30, 2000, equally between D&B and 

Moody’s. The liabilities so allocated include contingent and other 

liabilities relating to former businesses of Old D&B and its predeces-

sor and certain prior business transactions, which consist primarily of 

potential liabilities arising from a legal action initiated by Information 

Resources, Inc. (“IRI”) or from reviews by tax authorities of Old 

D&B’s global tax planning initiatives, each of which is described in 

Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to the terms of a distribution agreement, dated as of 

June 30, 1998 (the “1998 Distribution Agreement”), between Old 

D&B (then known as “The New Dun & Bradstreet Corporation”) 

and R.H. Donnelley Corporation (then known as “The Dun & 

Bradstreet Corporation” and herein referred to as “Donnelley”), as a 

condition to the 2000 Distribution, D&B was required to undertake 

to be jointly and severally liable with Moody’s to Donnelley for 

any liabilities arising thereunder. The 2000 Distribution Agreement 

generally allocates the financial responsibility for liabilities of Old 

D&B under the 1998 Distribution Agreement equally between D&B 

and Moody’s, except that any such liabilities that relate primarily to 

the D&B Business are liabilities of D&B and any such liabilities that 

relate primarily to the Moody’s Business are liabilities of Moody’s. 

Among other things, D&B and Moody’s agreed that, as between 

themselves, they are each responsible for 50% of any payments to 

be made under the 1998 Distribution Agreement in respect of the 

action by IRI (as described in Note 15 to the consolidated financial 

statements), including any legal fees and expenses related thereto.

Dun & Bradstreet
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Pursuant to the 2000 Distribution Agreement, immediately prior to 

the 2000 Distribution, a portion of Old D&B’s indebtedness (plus 

certain minority interest obligations) and a portion of Old D&B’s 

cash were allocated to D&B in amounts such that, at the time of 

the 2000 Distribution and before giving effect to the agreement 

discussed below and certain other factors, the net indebtedness of 

D&B (plus the minority interest obligations) approximated the net 

indebtedness of Moody’s. Under the terms of the Employee Benefits 

Agreement, substantially all unexercised Old D&B stock options 

have been adjusted as of September 30, 2000, to comprise options to 

purchase Moody’s common stock and separately exercisable options 

to purchase common stock of D&B. In light of, among other 

things, the numbers of optionees employed by D&B and Moody’s, 

respectively, this adjustment resulted in a substantially greater number 

of outstanding options to purchase common stock of Moody’s than 

would be the case if options would have been adjusted so as to 

become solely options to purchase common stock of the optionee’s 

employer. Due to this fact and the fact that, consistent with past 

practice, each company was expected to maintain a stock repurchase 

program designed to offset the increased number of shares outstand-

ing attributable to option exercises, D&B agreed to adjust the net 

indebtedness of the two companies to compensate Moody’s for the 

disproportionate amount of its estimated future cash costs in this 

regard. The final amount of this adjustment is reflected in D&B’s 

consolidated balance sheet, was determined on a formula basis and 

was dependent upon a variety of factors, including the respective 

trading prices of Moody’s and D&B’s common stock at the time 

of the 2000 Distribution.

Due to the relative significance of the D&B Business as compared to 

the Moody’s Business, the 2000 Distribution has been accounted for 

as a reverse spin-off. As such, the D&B Business has been classified 

as continuing operations and the Moody’s Business as discontinued 

operations.

Restructuring Charges

2000 Restructuring Charge

During the fourth quarter of 2000, D&B announced a new business 

strategy, The Blueprint for Growth, designed to transform D&B into a 

growth company with an important presence on the Web, while also 

delivering shareholder value during the transformation.

One component of the strategy is the reallocation of approximately 

$100 million from D&B’s cost base to create the financial flexibility 

needed to implement the new strategy. In the fourth quarter of 2000, 

D&B announced actions designed to create approximately $100 

million in financial flexibility in 2001, which include globalizing 

administrative functions, streamlining data collection and fulfillment, 

rationalizing sales and marketing functions and consolidating and 

simplifying technology functions. D&B will utilize the newly created 

financial flexibility to enhance its current business, fund its strategy 

to become an important player in B2B e-Commerce and support 

annual earnings per share growth of 10%. In total, approximately 

1,500 positions were affected and 1,300 positions were eliminated 

by the plan announced in the fourth quarter of 2000, including 

approximately 270 positions which were part of the 1999 restructur-

ing actions described below and finalized as part of  The Blueprint for 

Growth. Certain positions were open when they were eliminated.

During the fourth quarter of 2000, D&B recorded a restructuring 

charge of $41.5 million, ($30.3 million after tax, $.37 per share 

diluted and basic), in connection with The Blueprint for Growth. For 

management reporting purposes these charges were not allocated to 

any of D&B’s business segments. The charge included $28.2 million 

related to severance costs in connection with the termination of 

approximately 880 associates. The costs were determined based 

on amounts that will be paid pursuant to D&B’s policies and 

certain non-U.S. governmental regulations. Leasehold termination 

obligations arising from office closures represent $8.8 million, and 

the write-off of certain assets made obsolete or redundant and 

abandoned as a result of the plan represent $4.5 million. As of 

December 31, 2000, D&B had terminated approximately 100 of 

the affected employees and had made $.8 million of payments in 

connection with the actions. D&B anticipates that all actions under 

this plan will be completed by the end of 2001. The restructuring 

charge recorded by D&B in the fourth quarter of 2000 was lower 

than preliminary estimates as a result of managing open positions 

and turnover during the process.

As part of the new strategy, D&B also is evaluating opportunities to 

Dun & Bradstreet
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monetize certain non-strategic assets and businesses and change the 

international business model to align investment and infrastructure 

levels with revenue growth and profit potential. In furtherance of this 

strategy, D&B contributed its Singapore business to a joint venture 

during the third quarter of 2000 and completed other transactions in 

Japan and Malaysia during December 2000.

D&B expects to announce the details of the next phase of its 

financial flexibility program in June 2001. These actions are expected 

to produce on an annualized basis approximately $50 million 

in additional financial flexibility and will involve an additional 

restructuring charge.

1999 Restructuring Charge

During the fourth quarter of 1999, Old D&B’s board of directors 

approved plans to restructure D&B’s operations. The restructuring 

included: (1) office consolidations and organization changes in 

both Europe and other international locations and improvements in 

sales and data collection operations in Europe, (2) realigning and 

streamlining D&B’s global technology organization and outsourcing 

certain software and product development to resources outside the 

United States and Europe, and (3) migrating data collection in the 

U.S. to telephonic data collection and closing 15 U.S. field data 

collection offices.

As a result of these actions, a pre-tax restructuring charge of $41.2 

million ($27.9 million after-tax, $.34 per share basic and diluted) was 

included in operating income in 1999. For management reporting 

purposes these charges were not allocated to any of D&B’s business 

segments. Employee severance costs from planned terminations of 

approximately 700 employees totaled $32.7 million (including sever-

ance for two former corporate executives). The costs were determined 

based on amounts that will be paid pursuant to D&B’s policies 

and certain non-U.S. governmental regulations. The balance of 

the charge related to the write-off of certain assets made obsolete 

or redundant and abandoned by the restructuring and leasehold 

termination obligations arising from office closures. The restructuring 

actions were designed to strengthen customer service worldwide, 

improve operating efficiencies and lower structural costs. As of 

December 31, 2000, D&B has terminated approximately 530 

employees out of the approximately 700 originally contemplated. 

During 2000, D&B made payments of $21.0 million in connection 

with the 1999 actions. The remaining terminations will be completed 

by the end of January 2001. D&B achieved the expected savings of 

approximately $30 million in 2000 resulting from these actions.

1998 Distribution

On June 30, 1998, Donnelley separated into two publicly traded 

companies—Old D&B and Donnelley. The 1998 Distribution was 

accomplished through a tax-free dividend by Donnelley of Old D&B, 

which was a new entity comprised principally of Moody’s and the 

D&B operating company. The New Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 

changed its name to “The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation,” and the 

continuing entity (i.e., Donnelley), consisting of R.H. Donnelley Inc. 

and the DonTech partnership, changed its name to R.H. Donnelley 

Corporation. Due to the relative significance of Old D&B, the 

transaction was accounted for as a reverse spin-off, and, as such, Old 

D&B was classified as continuing operations, and R.H. Donnelley 

Inc. and DonTech were classified as discontinued operations. For 

purposes of effecting the 1998 Distribution and of governing certain 

of the continuing relationships between Old D&B and Donnelley 

after the transaction, Donnelley and Old D&B have entered into 

various agreements as described in Note 2 to D&B’s consolidated 

financial statements and notes thereto.

1996 Distribution

On November 1, 1996, Donnelley (then known as “The Dun 

& Bradstreet Corporation”) reorganized into three publicly traded 

independent companies by spinning off to stockholders through a 

tax-free distribution (the “1996 Distribution”) two new companies, 

Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsen Corporation. In conjunction 

with the 1996 Distribution, Donnelley also disposed of Dun & 

Bradstreet Software and NCH Promotional Services. After the trans-

action was completed, Donnelley’s continuing operations consisted 

principally of the D&B, Moody’s and R.H. Donnelley businesses.

Reclassification of Discontinued Operations

Pursuant to Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 30, 

“Reporting the Results of Operations—Reporting the Effects of 

Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and 

Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions,” the consolidated 

Dun & Bradstreet
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financial statements have been reclassified to reflect the 2000 

Distribution and the 1998 Distribution. Accordingly, revenues, costs 

and expenses, and cash flows of Moody’s and Donnelley have been 

excluded from the respective captions in the Consolidated Statements 

of Operations and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of D&B. 

The net operating results of these entities have been reported, net of 

applicable income taxes, as “Income from Discontinued Operations, 

Net of Income Taxes,” and the net cash flows of these entities have 

been reported as “Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Discontinued 

Operations.” The assets and liabilities of the Moody’s Business have 

been excluded from the respective captions in the Consolidated 

Balance Sheet of D&B and have been reported as “Net Liabilities of 

Discontinued Operations” for the year ended December 31, 1999.

Results of Operations

Operating Segments

D&B, which provides a comprehensive array of information-based 

products and services, is managed on a geographical basis. Effective 

January 1, 2000, responsibility for the management of the Canadian 

business was moved from the Asia Pacific/Latin America segment to 

its U.S. segment, which is presently called North America, to take 

advantage of marketing synergies. In each of the three geographic 

segments, North America, Europe/Africa/Middle East (“Europe”) and 

Asia Pacific/Latin America (“APLA”), D&B offers credit informa-

tion solutions, marketing information solutions, purchasing informa-

tion solutions and receivable management services. D&B evaluates 

performance and allocates resources based on segment revenues and 

operating income.

Year Ended December 31, 2000 Compared with Year Ended 

December 31, 1999

For the year ended December 31, 2000, D&B reported income 

from continuing operations of $73.6 million, or $.91 per share basic 

and $.90 per share diluted. This compares with 1999 income from 

continuing operations of $81.3 million and earnings per share from 

continuing operations of $1.00 basic and $.99 diluted. 2000 results 

included the $41.5 million pre-tax restructuring charge discussed 

above ($30.3 million after-tax, $.37 per share basic and diluted), pre-

tax reorganization costs in connection with the 2000 Distribution of 

$29.5 million ($25.6 million after-tax, $.32 per share basic and $.31 

per share diluted) and a $10.1 million pre-tax gain on the settlement 

of litigation ($6.2 million after-tax, $.08 per share basic and diluted). 

1999 results included the $41.2 million pre-tax restructuring charge 

discussed above ($27.9 million after-tax, $.34 per share basic and 

diluted), and an $11.9 million pre-tax gain relating to the settlement 

of litigation ($6.6 million after-tax, $.08 per share basic and diluted). 

Excluding these items, income from continuing operations would 

have increased 20% and earnings per share from continuing opera-

tions would have increased 21% for basic earnings and 20% for 

diluted earnings. 2000 net income of $206.6 million included 

income from discontinued operations of $133.0 million, while 1999 

net income of $256.0 million included income from discontinued 

operations of $174.7 million. For the year ended December 31, 

2000, earnings per share of $2.55 basic and $2.52 diluted included 

earnings per share from discontinued operations of $1.64 basic and 

$1.62 diluted. For the year ended December 31, 1999, earnings per 

share of $3.16 basic and $3.12 diluted included earnings per share 

from discontinued operations of $2.16 basic and $2.13 diluted.

Operating revenues grew 1% to $1,417.6 million in 2000, compared 

with $1,407.7 million in 1999. Revenue growth in North America 

of 5% was offset by a decline in Europe of 9%, while revenue growth 

was flat in APLA. Before the effect of foreign exchange, operating 

revenues increased 4% in 2000 compared to 1999, with European 

revenues growing 3% and APLA’s revenues growing 1% from the 

prior year. D&B’s results, before the effect of foreign exchange, 

reflect a 2% decline in revenues from traditional credit information 

solutions, offset by 9% growth in revenues from value added credit 

information solutions such as decision-support tools and services, 

11% growth in marketing information solutions and 16% growth in 

receivable management services. D&B intends to expand its customer 

base by targeting the small business market and deepening the 

penetration of global accounts in order to sustain revenue growth.

Operating expenses decreased 4% to $515.9 million in 2000 

compared with $538.3 million in 1999, as a result of cost reductions 

attributable to the restructuring actions initiated in the fourth 

quarters of 1999 and 2000 and the positive effect of foreign exchange 

on expenses. Selling and administrative expenses increased by 1% 

to $546.7 million in 2000 compared with $539.4 million in 1999, 

Dun & Bradstreet

M A N A G E M E N T ’S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A L Y S I S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  C O N D I T I O N  A N D  R E S U L T S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S  C O N T I N U E D



13

as a result of costs incurred in order to offer new products and 

services, which offset cost reductions and the positive effect of 

foreign exchange. Depreciation and amortization decreased 13% to 

$111.2 million in 2000 as compared to 1999 as a result of lower 

capitalization over the past two years, the write-off of certain assets as 

a result of the restructuring actions and the positive effect of foreign 

exchange on expenses. Operating costs in 2000 also included a $41.5 

million charge for restructuring actions, while 1999 operating costs 

included a $41.2 million restructuring charge. In 2000, operating 

costs included $29.5 million in reorganization costs incurred in 

connection with the 2000 Distribution.

Operating income increased 7% in 2000 to $172.8 million from 

$160.9 million in 1999. Excluding the restructuring charges in 2000 

and 1999 and the reorganization costs incurred in 2000, operating 

income would have grown 21% in 2000, as a result of revenue 

growth and lower operating costs.

Non-operating expense–net was $21.1 million in 2000 compared with 

$15.5 million in 1999. Included in non-operating expense–net is interest 

income and expense, minority interest expense (which remained level at 

$22.4 million in both 2000 and 1999) and other income (expense)–net. 

Interest income of $3.9 million in 2000 was higher than 1999 due to 

higher cash levels, while interest expense of $8.6 million in 2000 was 

also higher than in 1999 as a result of the higher debt levels in 2000 

compared with 1999. Other income (expense)–net was $6.0 million 

in 2000 compared with $9.0 million in 1999. 2000 other income 

(expense)–net included a gain of $10.1 million on the settlement of 

litigation, while 1999 other income (expense)–net included a gain of 

$11.9 million on the settlement of litigation. These gains were offset 

by other miscellaneous non-operating income and expense items, which 

were generally unchanged in 2000 and 1999.

D&B’s effective tax rate was 51.4% in 2000 compared with 44.1% 

in 1999, while the underlying tax rate was 42.0% in 2000 and 

41.3% in 1999. The difference between the effective and underlying 

rates resulted from several factors in both 2000 and 1999, including 

taxes imposed on the proceeds from the settlement of litigation and 

the non-deductibility of certain restructuring expenses. Additionally 

in 2000, the non-deductibility of certain reorganization expenses and 

interest incurred impacted the effective tax rate.

Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes, was 

$133.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2000, and $174.7 

million for the year ended December 31, 1999. 2000 results include 

nine months of income from discontinued operations, while 1999 

included the income from discontinued operations for a full year.

Segment Results
North America revenues were $968.3 million in 2000, up 5% 

from 1999 revenues. In comparing 2000 and 1999 revenues, North 

America’s revenues from credit information solutions were flat at $580.1 

million, revenues from marketing information solutions increased 13% 

to $259.8 million, revenues from purchasing information solutions 

increased 5% to $28.5 million and revenues from receivable manage-

ment services increased 22% to $99.9 million. North America’s results 

reflect a decline in the use of traditional credit information solutions 

products as D&B has migrated its customers from traditional credit 

information products to lower price, higher margin value added 

products. In addition, the availability of free or lower cost information 

on the Internet (and from other sources) has impacted revenues from 

traditional credit information products. However, revenues from value 

added credit information products have offset the decline in traditional 

credit products. The growth in revenues from marketing information 

solutions and purchasing information solutions was largely driven by 

revenues from value added products, while both traditional and value 

added products have contributed to the growth in revenues from 

receivable management services.

North America’s operating income was $287.6 million in 2000, up 13% 

from $255.4 million in the prior year, an improvement driven by the 

increase in revenues and the impact of data collection cost reductions 

achieved as part of the 1999 fourth quarter restructuring actions.

Europe’s revenues were $382.1 million in 2000, down 9% when 

compared with 1999 revenues of $420.6 million. However, before 

the effect of foreign exchange, Europe’s revenues would have been 

up 3%. Before the effect of foreign exchange, Europe would have 

reported in 2000 an increase in revenues from credit information 

solutions of 1%, an increase in revenues from marketing information 

solutions of 5%, an increase in revenues from purchasing information 

solutions of 70% and an increase in revenues from receivable 
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management services of 6% in comparison with 1999. As reported, 

Europe’s revenues from credit information solutions decreased 10% 

to $266.4 million, revenues from marketing information solutions 

decreased 6% to $67.6 million, revenues from purchasing informa-

tion solutions increased 52% to $2.1 million and revenues from 

receivable management services decreased 7% to $46.0 million, when 

comparing 2000 to 1999.

European revenues from credit information solutions products 

continue to be impacted by ongoing price erosion in the local 

markets, as well as continued competition, including availability of 

free or lower-cost information on the Internet. However, the growth 

in revenues from value added products in Europe has resulted in 

the overall improvement in revenues, before the negative effect of 

foreign exchange.

Europe reported an operating loss of $.9 million in 2000, compared 

to an operating loss of $8.9 million in 1999. Europe achieved 

substantial improvements in profitability as a result of significant cost 

reductions realized from the restructuring actions announced in the 

fourth quarters of 1999 and 2000.

APLA reported revenues of $67.2 million in 2000, compared to 

revenues of $67.1 million in 1999. Before the effect of foreign 

exchange, revenues would have been up 1%. APLA’s revenue growth 

was negatively affected by the elimination of revenues from Singapore 

as the business was contributed to a joint venture in the third 

quarter of 2000, a transaction that is expected to contribute to an 

improvement in D&B’s international profitability. D&B’s share of 

the venture’s results is no longer included in the APLA segment but 

rather within other income (expense)–net. Excluding revenue from 

Singapore from both years’ results, and before the effect of foreign 

exchange, APLA’s revenue would have increased 3%, comprised of 

a decrease in revenues from credit information solutions of 8%, an 

increase in revenues from marketing information solutions of 32% 

and an increase in revenues from receivable management services of 

22%, in each case in comparison with 1999. In comparing 2000 

reported results with those of 1999, APLA’s revenues from credit 

information solutions decreased 9% to $39.9 million, revenues from 

marketing information solutions increased 22% to $12.0 million 

and revenues from receivable management services increased 12% 

to $15.3 million.

APLA reported an operating loss of $4.6 million in 2000, compared 

with a loss of $7.3 million in 1999. The decrease in operating losses 

in 2000 compared with 1999 is due to cost reductions and the 

change in the Singapore business model. D&B expects to continue to 

change the business models in certain countries in the APLA region 

to further improve profitability.

Year Ended December 31, 1999 Compared with Year Ended 

December 31, 1998

For the year ended December 31, 1999, D&B reported income from 

continuing operations of $81.3 million, or $1.00 per share basic 

and $.99 per share diluted. This compares with 1998 income from 

continuing operations of $86.2 million and earnings per share from 

continuing operations of $1.02 basic and $1.00 diluted. 1999 results 

included the $41.2 million pre-tax restructuring charge discussed 

above ($27.9 million after-tax, $.34 per share basic and diluted), 

and an $11.9 million pre-tax gain relating to the settlement of 

outstanding litigation ($6.6 million after-tax, $.08 per share basic and 

diluted). Results for 1998 included reorganization costs associated 

with the 1998 Distribution of $28.0 million ($23.2 million after-tax, 

$.27 per share basic and diluted). 1999 net income of $256.0 

million included income from discontinued operations of $174.7 

million, while 1998 net income of $280.1 million included income 

from discontinued operations of $193.9 million. For the year ended 

December 31, 1999, earnings per share of $3.16 basic and $3.12 

diluted included earnings per share from discontinued operations of 

$2.16 basic and $2.13 diluted. For the year ended December 31, 

1998, earnings per share of $3.31 basic and $3.26 diluted included 

earnings per share from discontinued operations of $2.29 basic and 

$2.26 diluted.

Operating revenues were $1,407.7 million in 1999 compared with 

$1,420.5 million in 1998. Before the effect of foreign currency 

translation, D&B revenues were flat. These results reflect decreased 

demand for traditional credit information solutions, offset by growth 

in value added products such as decision-support tools and services.
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Operating expenses were flat at $538.3 million in 1999 compared with 

$536.2 million in 1998. Selling and administrative expenses decreased 

by 1% to $539.4 million in 1999 compared with $542.4 million in 

1998. Costs saved as a result of D&B’s worldwide expense control 

initiatives were offset by D&B’s investment in value added products.

Operating costs in 1999 also included the $41.2 million restructuring 

charge discussed above. In 1998, operating costs included $28.0 

million in reorganization costs incurred in connection with the 1998 

Distribution.

Operating income decreased 14% in 1999 to $160.9 million from 

$187.7 million in 1998. Excluding the $41.2 million restructuring 

charge in 1999 and the $28.0 million of reorganization costs in 1998, 

operating income in 1999 declined 6% compared with 1998.

Non-operating expense–net was $15.5 million in 1999 compared 

with $30.4 million in 1998. Included in non-operating expense– 

net is interest income and expense, minority interest expense (which 

remained relatively level when comparing 1999 and 1998) and other 

income (expense)–net. Interest income of $2.9 million in 1999 was 

lower than 1998 due to lower cash levels, while interest expense of 

$5.0 million in 1999 was significantly lower than in 1998 as a result 

of the lower debt levels in 1999 compared with 1998. Other income 

(expense)–net was income of $9.0 million in 1999 compared with 

an expense of $2.2 million in 1998. 1999 other income (expense)– 

net included a gain of $11.9 million on the settlement of litigation. 

This gain was offset by other miscellaneous non-operating income and 

expense items, which were generally unchanged in 1999 and 1998.

D&B’s effective tax rate was 44.1% in 1999 compared with 45.2% in 

1998, while the underlying tax rate was 41.3% in 1999 and 41.0% 

in 1998. The difference between the effective and underlying rates 

resulted from a number of factors, including taxes imposed on the 

proceeds from the settlement of litigation, the non-deductibility of 

certain restructuring expenses and refinements of certain estimates.

Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes, was 

$174.7 million for the year ended December 31, 1999, and $193.9 

million for the year ended December 31, 1998, with Moody’s 

representing all of such income in 1999 and $160.2 million of 

such income in 1998. In 1998, the balance of the income from 

discontinued operations, net of income taxes, of $33.7 million 

reflects the results of Donnelley. Moody’s net income of $174.7 

million in 1999 grew 9% from $160.2 million in 1998, principally 

as a result of strong revenue growth.

Segment Results
North America revenues were $920.0 million in 1999, down 1% 

from 1998 revenues. In comparing 1999 and 1998 revenues, North 

America’s revenues from credit information solutions decreased 6% 

to $581.0 million, revenues from marketing information solutions 

increased 5% to $230.1 million, revenues from purchasing informa-

tion solutions increased 18% to $27.1 million and revenues from 

receivable management services increased 19% to $81.8 million. The 

decline in revenues from credit information solutions resulted from a 

number of factors, including sales force reorganization, compensation 

and training issues, as well as increased competition, including free 

or lower-cost information from online vendors and other Internet 

sources. In addition, the shift by former annual contract customers 

to the monthly discount plan negatively affected revenues. The 

growth in revenues from marketing information solutions, purchas-

ing information solutions and receivable management services was 

largely driven by revenues from value added products.

North America’s operating income was $255.4 million in 1999, 

down 4% from $266.5 million in the prior year due to the lower 

revenues and higher selling and administrative expenses resulting 

from the investment in value added products.

Europe’s revenues were $420.6 million in 1999, down 2% when 

compared with 1998 revenues of $427.7 million. Before the effect 

of foreign exchange, Europe’s revenues were up 1% in 1999. Before 

the effect of foreign exchange, Europe would have reported in 1999 

a decrease in revenues from credit information solutions of 2%, an 

increase in revenues from marketing information solutions of 14% 

and an increase in revenues from receivable management services of 

3% in comparison with 1998. The decline in European revenues 

from credit information solutions resulted from ongoing price ero-

sion in the local credit markets, as well as increased competition, 

including the availability of free or lower-cost information from 

online vendors and other Internet sources. Revenue growth from 
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marketing information solutions was largely attributable to value 

added products. In comparing reported results in 1999 with 1998, 

Europe’s revenues from credit information solutions decreased 5% 

to $297.4 million, while revenues from marketing information solu-

tions increased 11% to $72.2 million and revenues from receivable 

management services were flat at $49.6 million. Europe also reported 

revenues from newly introduced purchasing information solutions 

of $1.4 million during 1999. Europe reported an operating loss 

of $8.9 million in 1999, compared with a loss of $4.2 million in 

1998. Europe’s loss resulted largely from investment in sales and 

marketing support for value added products and higher costs for new 

technology and systems in the region.

APLA reported revenues of $67.1 million in 1999, up 9% from 

1998. Before the effect of foreign exchange, revenues would have 

been up 4%. Before the effect of foreign exchange, APLA would have 

reported in 1999 an increase in revenues from credit information 

solutions of 9%, a decrease in revenues from marketing information 

solutions of 6% and a decrease in revenues from receivable manage-

ment services of 2%, in each case in comparison with 1998. 

In comparing 1999 with 1998 reported results, APLA’s revenues 

from credit information solutions increased 16% to $43.6 million, 

revenues from marketing information solutions decreased 2% to $9.9 

million and revenues from receivable management services decreased 

1% to $13.6 million. APLA reported an operating loss of $7.3 

million in 1999, compared with a loss of $11.7 million in 1998. The 

decrease in operating losses in 1999 compared with 1998 is due to 

expense-control initiatives and revenue improvements in 1999.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued 

SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 

Activities” (“SFAS No. 133”). This statement establishes accounting 

and reporting standards for derivative instruments, including certain 

derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging 

activities. It requires recognition of all derivatives as either assets or 

liabilities on the balance sheet, and measurement of those instruments 

at fair value. If certain conditions are met, a derivative may be 

designated specifically as: (i) a hedge of the exposure to changes in 

the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or an unrecognized 

firm commitment (a fair value hedge), (ii) a hedge of the exposure to 

variable cash flows of a forecasted transaction (a cash flow hedge), or 

(iii) a hedge of the foreign currency exposure of a net investment in 

a foreign operation, an unrecognized firm commitment, an available-

for-sale security, or a foreign-currency-denominated forecasted trans-

action. In June 1999, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 

issued SFAS No. 137, delaying the effective date of SFAS No. 133. 

The provisions of SFAS No. 133 are effective for all fiscal quarters 

of all fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000. The adoption of 

SFAS No. 133 by D&B, effective January 1, 2001, had no effect 

on D&B.

Market Risk Sensitive Instruments
D&B operates in 33 countries through wholly or majority-owned 

entities and in six countries through minority interests in joint 

ventures, and principally uses the capital markets to fund its opera-

tions. As such, D&B is exposed to market risk from changes in 

foreign exchange rates and interest rates, which could affect its results 

of operations and financial condition. In order to reduce the risk 

from fluctuations in foreign currencies and interest rates, D&B 

currently uses short-term forward foreign exchange contracts and in 

the past has used interest rate swap agreements. These derivative 

financial instruments are viewed by D&B as risk management tools 

that are entered into for hedging purposes only. D&B does not use 

derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

D&B also has investments in fixed-income marketable securities. 

Consequently, D&B is exposed to fluctuations in rates on these 

marketable securities. Market risk associated with investments in 

marketable securities is immaterial and has been excluded from the 

sensitivity discussions.

A discussion of D&B’s accounting policies for financial instruments 

is included in the summary of significant accounting policies in 

Note 1 to D&B’s consolidated financial statements, and further 

disclosure relating to financial instruments is included in Note 

7 to the consolidated financial statements. The following analysis 

presents the sensitivity of the fair value of D&B market risk sensitive 

instruments to changes in market rates and prices.
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Interest Rate Risk

D&B is exposed to market risk through its commercial paper 

program, in which it borrows at prevailing short-term commercial 

paper rates. At December 31, 2000, D&B had $49.5 million of 

short-term commercial paper outstanding maturing on January 2, 

2001, and short-term investments of $37.5 million. As such, the 

market risk is immaterial when calculated utilizing estimates of the 

termination value based upon a 10% increase or decrease in interest 

rates from their levels as of December 31, 2000.

D&B has in the past entered into interest rate swap agreements to 

manage exposure to changes in interest rates. Interest rate swaps 

have allowed D&B to raise funds at floating rates and effectively 

swap them into fixed rates that are lower than those available 

to it if fixed-rate borrowings were to be made directly. During 

1998, in connection with the 1998 Distribution and repayment of 

outstanding notes payable, Donnelley canceled all of its interest rate 

swap agreements. D&B has not entered into any interest rate swap 

agreements since the 1998 Distribution and therefore is not subject 

to market risk on interest rate swaps.

Foreign Exchange Risk

D&B’s non-U.S. operations generated approximately 34% of total 

revenues in 2000. As of December 31, 2000, approximately 37% of 

D&B assets were located outside the U.S., and no single country 

outside the U.S. had a significant concentration of D&B’s aggregate 

cash balance.

D&B follows a policy of hedging substantially all cross-border 

intercompany transactions denominated in a currency other than 

the functional currency applicable to each of its various subsidiaries. 

D&B only uses short-term forward foreign exchange contracts 

to implement its hedging strategy. Typically, these contracts have 

maturities of six months or less. These forward contracts are executed 

with creditworthy institutions and are denominated primarily in the 

British pound sterling, the euro and the Swedish krona.

The fair value of foreign currency risk is calculated by using estimates 

of the cost of closing out all outstanding forward foreign exchange 

contracts, given a 10% increase or decrease in forward rates from 

their December 31, 2000 levels. At December 31, 2000, D&B had 

approximately $181 million in forward foreign exchange contracts 

outstanding, with various expiration dates through March 2001 (see 

Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements). At December 31, 

2000, net unrealized losses related to D&B’s forward contracts were 

$.7 million. If forward rates were to increase by 10% from December 

31, 2000, levels, the unrealized gain on these contracts would be 

$11.4 million. If forward rates were to decrease by 10% from 

December 31, 2000, levels, the unrealized loss on these contracts 

would be $15.4 million. However, the estimated potential gain or loss 

on forward contracts is expected to be offset by changes in the dollar 

value of underlying transactions. Therefore, the net effect of a 10% 

movement in foreign exchange rates would be immaterial.

Liquidity and Financial Position
Management believes that cash flows generated from its operations 

are sufficient to fund its operating needs and service debt. D&B 

accesses the commercial paper market from time to time to fund 

working capital needs and share repurchases. Such borrowings have 

been supported by D&B’s bank credit facilities. It is expected 

that operating cash flows, supplemented as needed with financing 

arrangements, will be sufficient to meet the needs of D&B.

D&B is considering the monetization of certain non-strategic assets 

and businesses, and intends to complete this review in the first half 

of 2001. Certain asset monetization transactions may be announced 

and/or completed prior to that date. Funds generated from these 

transactions may be utilized to invest in the current business, to 

invest in the B2B strategy, or to repurchase stock.

Year Ended December 31, 2000 Compared With Year Ended 

December 31, 1999

At December 31, 2000, cash and cash equivalents totaled $70.1 

million, compared to $109.4 million at December 31, 1999. D&B’s 

payment of $349.3 million to the IRS, as discussed below under 

“Other,” and the impact of the 2000 Distribution with respect to the 

allocation of net indebtedness impacted the cash balance.

Operating activities provided net cash of $23.8 million during 2000. 

The $349.3 million payment to the IRS is reflected as a reduction in 

continuing operations’ accrued income taxes of $174.7 million and 
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as a $174.6 million offset to net cash used in operating activities of 

discontinued operations. Excluding the impact of the payment, cash 

generated by operating activities in 2000 would have been $373.1 

million, with continuing operations providing $202.6 million and 

discontinued operations providing $170.5 million (representing nine 

months of activity). Cash generated by operating activities in 1999 

was $350.0 million, with continuing operations providing $135.2 

million and discontinued operations providing $214.8 million. The 

improvement in cash generated by operating activities of continuing 

operations results from increased operating income and an improve-

ment in working capital.

During 2000, D&B made payments of $21.0 million related to the 

restructuring actions implemented during the fourth quarter of 1999 

and $.8 million related to the restructuring actions implemented 

during the fourth quarter of 2000.

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $84.5 million in 2000, 

compared with $116.7 million in 1999. Net cash used in investing 

activities of discontinued operations in 2000 was $26.2 million and 

in 1999 was $12.1 million. Net cash used by discontinued operations 

in 2000 included an acquisition by Moody’s of a financial software 

products company for $17.4 million. In 2000, spending for capital 

expenditures, computer software and other intangibles by continuing 

operations totaled $67.1 million, compared with $109.6 million in 

1999. During 2000, D&B reduced its spending for capital expendi-

tures, computer software and other intangibles, while formulating 

The Blueprint for Growth strategy. Currently, D&B has no material 

commitments for capital expenditures.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $25.0 million in 2000, 

compared with net cash used in financing activities of $210.3 million 

during 1999. Payments of dividends by Old D&B accounted for 

$89.8 million in 2000, compared with $120.1 million in 1999. D&B 

does not intend to pay dividends in the future. As discussed below, 

D&B’s financing arrangements and stock repurchases also affected 

the net cash provided by or used in financing activities.

Financing Arrangements

In connection with the 2000 Distribution, Old D&B borrowed 

funds in order to repay in full Old D&B’s commercial paper 

obligations. Also pursuant to the 2000 Distribution Agreement, 

immediately prior to the 2000 Distribution, a portion of Old 

D&B’s indebtedness (plus certain minority interest obligations) and 

a portion of Old D&B’s cash was allocated to D&B in amounts 

such that, at the time of the 2000 Distribution and before giving 

effect to certain adjustments and other factors described in Note 

2 to the consolidated financial statements, the net indebtedness of 

D&B (plus the minority interest obligations) approximated the net 

indebtedness of Moody’s. The indebtedness that was assumed by 

D&B upon the 2000 Distribution amounted to $24.1 million. D&B 

also assumed $300 million in minority interest obligations and was 

allocated $39.4 million in cash. The debt that was assumed by 

Moody’s at the 2000 Distribution amounted to $195.5 million.

In September 2000, D&B established two committed bank facilities, 

which remained in effect after the 2000 Distribution. One of the 

facilities permits borrowings of up to $175 million and matures in 

September 2001. The second facility permits borrowings of up to 

$175 million and matures in September 2005. Under these facilities 

D&B has the ability to borrow at prevailing short-term interest rates. 

D&B has not drawn on those facilities since their inception and has 

no borrowings outstanding under these facilities at December 31, 

2000. These facilities are available for general corporate purposes, 

including to support D&B’s commercial paper program.

At December 31, 2000, D&B had $49.5 million in commercial 

paper outstanding, while at December 31, 1999, Old D&B had 

$124.7 million of commercial paper outstanding.

In connection with the 1998 Distribution, R.H. Donnelley, Inc. bor-

rowed $500 million, which was used to repay existing indebtedness 

(commercial paper and other short-term borrowings) of Donnelley in 

the amount of $287.1 million at the time of the 1998 Distribution. 

Old D&B used the excess proceeds for general corporate purposes, 

including the payment of reorganization costs. The $500 million 

of debt became an obligation of Donnelley upon the 1998 

Distribution.

Also in connection with the 1998 Distribution and repayment 

of indebtedness, Donnelley canceled all of its interest rate swap 

agreements and recorded into income the previously unrecognized 
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fair value loss at the time of termination. At the time of the 

cancellation, the fair value of the interest rate swaps was a loss of 

$12.7 million, of which $3.8 million ($.6 million in the first quarter 

of 1998 and $3.2 million in 1997) had been recognized in income 

relating to swaps that did not qualify for settlement accounting. The 

previously unrecognized loss of $8.9 million was recorded during the 

second quarter of 1998 and included in reorganization costs.

In 1997, $300 million in minority interest financing was raised 

by Donnelley when an unrelated investor contributed cash to a 

Donnelley partnership in exchange for a limited partner interest. 

This transaction was assumed by Old D&B in connection with the 

1998 Distribution and thereafter by D&B in the 2000 Distribution. 

Under the terms of the limited partnership agreement that governs 

the minority interest financing, the unrelated partner is entitled 

to receive an amount per annum equal to 7.47% of its initial 

investment payable quarterly in arrears, provided that there are 

sufficient partnership profits.

Pursuant to the terms of the partnership agreement, on December 

15, 2000, the unrelated partner initiated a process that could have 

resulted in dissolution and liquidation of the partnership as early as 

February 25, 2001. Such dissolution has been prevented, however, 

through the D&B partner having elected on December 27, 2000, 

to exercise its right to purchase the unrelated partner’s interest in 

the partnership. This purchase is to be made in the first quarter of 

2001. D&B expects that it will fund the purchase price through the 

issuance of debt, the issuance of commercial paper, or a combination 

of the foregoing. In the opinion of management, this funding will 

not have a material adverse effect on D&B’s financial position or 

results of operations.

Stock Repurchase Program

Between January 1, 2000 and September 30, 2000, Old D&B 

repurchased 125,000 shares for $3.5 million in connection with its 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan and to offset a portion of the shares 

issued under stock incentive plans. During the fourth quarter of 

2000, D&B repurchased 1.8 million shares for $43.3 million to offset 

awards under stock incentive plans and in connection with the D&B 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Proceeds received in connection with 

Old D&B’s stock plans were $30.7 million for the nine months ended 

September 30, 2000. D&B received proceeds in connection with 

D&B’s stock plans of $7.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2000.

During 1999, Old D&B completed its special stock repurchase 

program, authorized by its Board of Directors in June 1998, by 

purchasing 4.2 million shares for $150.0 million. During 1999, Old 

D&B also repurchased 2.6 million shares for $87.9 million to offset 

awards made under stock incentive plans and in connection with 

the Old D&B Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Proceeds received in 

connection with stock incentive plans were $48.4 million in 1999.

Other

Old D&B and its predecessors have entered into global tax planning 

initiatives in the normal course of business, principally through tax-

free restructurings of both their foreign and domestic operations. 

These initiatives are subject to normal review by tax authorities. It is 

possible that additional liabilities may be proposed by tax authorities 

as a result of these reviews and that some of the reviews could be 

resolved unfavorably. At this time, management is unable to predict 

the extent of such reviews, the outcome thereof or whether the 

resolution of these matters could materially affect D&B’s results of 

operations, cash flows or financial position.

Pursuant to the 2000 Distribution Agreement, D&B and Moody’s 

agreed to each be financially responsible for 50% of any potential 

liabilities that may arise with respect to the reviews described above, 

to the extent such potential liabilities are not directly attributable to 

their respective business operations.

The IRS has completed its review of the utilization of certain capital 

losses generated during 1989 and 1990. On June 26, 2000, the IRS, 

as part of its audit process, issued a formal assessment with respect 

to the utilization of these capital losses and Old D&B responded 

by filing a petition for a refund in the U.S. District Court for the 

District of Columbia on September 21, 2000.

Pursuant to a series of agreements, IMS Health and Nielsen Media 

Research are jointly and severally liable to pay one-half, and 

Donnelley the other half, of any payments for taxes and accrued 

interest arising from this matter and certain other potential tax 

liabilities after Donnelley pays the first $137 million.
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In connection with the 1998 Distribution, Old D&B and Donnelley 

entered into an agreement whereby Old D&B assumed all potential 

liabilities of Donnelley arising from these tax matters and agreed to 

indemnify Donnelley in connection with such potential liabilities.

On May 12, 2000, an amended tax return was filed for the 1989 and 

1990 tax periods, which reflects $561.6 million of tax and interest 

due. Old D&B paid the IRS approximately $349.3 million of this 

amount on May 12, 2000, which Old D&B funded with short-term 

borrowings. IMS Health has informed D&B that it paid to the 

IRS approximately $212.3 million on May 17, 2000. The payments 

were made to the IRS to stop further interest from accruing. 

Notwithstanding the filing and payment, D&B is contesting the 

IRS’s formal assessment and will also contest the assessment of 

amounts, if any, in excess of the amounts paid. D&B has accrued its 

anticipated share of the probable liability arising from the utilization 

of these capital losses.

D&B and its subsidiaries are involved in legal proceedings, claims 

and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. Although the 

outcome of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, in the 

opinion of management, the ultimate liability of D&B in connection 

with such matters will not have a material effect on D&B’s operating 

results, cash flows or financial position.

New European Currency
On January 1, 1999, 11 of the countries in the European Union 

began a three-year transition to the euro to replace the national 

currency of each participating country. D&B intends to phase in its 

transition to the euro over the next two years. D&B has established a 

task force to address issues related to the euro. D&B believes that 

the euro conversion may have a material impact on its operations and 

financial condition if it fails to successfully address such issues. The 

task force has prepared a project plan and is proceeding with the 

implementation of that plan.

D&B’s project plan includes the following: ensuring that D&B’s 

information technology systems that process data for inclusion in 

D&B’s products and services can appropriately handle amounts 

denominated in euro that are contained in data provided to D&B 

by third-party data suppliers; modification of D&B products and 

services to deal with euro-related issues; and modification of D&B 

internal systems (such as payroll, accounting and financial reporting) 

to deal with euro-related issues. D&B does not believe that the cost 

of such modifications will have a material effect on D&B results 

of operations or financial condition. There is no guarantee that 

all problems will be foreseen and corrected, or that no material 

disruption of D&B’s business will occur. The conversion to the euro 

may have competitive implications for D&B pricing and marketing 

strategies that could be material in nature; however, any such impact 

is not known at this time.

Dividends
Old D&B paid a quarterly dividend of $.185 per share during the 

first three quarters of 2000, each quarter of 1999 and the third 

and fourth quarters of 1998. Donnelley paid quarterly dividends of 

$.22 per share during the first half of 1998, resulting in a full-year 

dividend per share paid of $.555, $.74 and $.81 for 2000, 1999 

and 1998, respectively.

D&B did not pay a dividend during the fourth quarter of 2000 and 

does not intend to pay dividends in the future.

Common Stock Information
D&B’s common stock (symbol DNB) is listed on the New York 

Stock Exchange. The number of shareholders of record was 8,115 

at December 31, 2000.
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Old D&B

The following table summarizes price and cash dividend information for Old D&B’s common stock as reported in the periods shown.

D&B

In the fourth quarter of 2000, D&B’s high price per share of 

common stock was $26.9375 and the low price per share of common 

stock was $17.5625. D&B pays no dividends.

Forward-Looking Statements
Certain statements in this Annual Report are forward looking. These 

may be identified by the use of forward-looking words or phrases, 

such as “expect,” “will,” “can,” “anticipate” and “plan,” among others. 

All such forward-looking statements are based on D&B’s reasonable 

expectations at the time they are made, but are not guarantees of 

future performance. The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 

1995 provides a “safe harbor” for such forward-looking statements. 

In order to comply with the terms of the safe harbor, D&B 

notes that a variety of factors could cause its actual results and 

experience to differ materially from the anticipated results or other 

expectations expressed in such forward-looking statements. The 

risks and uncertainties that may affect the operations, performance, 

development and results of D&B’s businesses include: (1) complexity 

and uncertainty regarding the development of new high-technology 

products, (2) possible loss of market share through competition, (3) 

pricing pressures from competitors and/or customers, (4) changes 

in the business information and risk management industries and 

markets, including those driven by the Internet, (5) D&B’s ability 

to protect proprietary information and technology or to obtain 

necessary licenses on commercially reasonable terms, (6) D&B’s 

ability to complete the implementation of its euro plans on a timely 

basis and the competitive implications that the conversion to the euro 

may have on D&B’s pricing and marketing strategies, (7) D&B’s 

ability to attract and retain key employees, (8) risks associated with 

investments and operations in foreign countries, including regulatory 

environment, exchange rate fluctuations and cultural factors, (9) the 

outcome of any reviews by applicable tax authorities of D&B’s global 

tax planning initiatives, (10) D&B’s ability to successfully implement 

its Blueprint for Growth, including the ability to consummate asset 

monetization transactions, changes in the international business 

model and financial flexibility initiatives on terms and conditions 

contemplated by D&B, (11) the loss of key customers due to 

consolidations and mergers, (12) the impact of product rationaliza-

tion activities on revenues, (13) D&B’s ability to expand its database 

on commercially reasonable terms and the possibility that data 

suppliers might withdraw data from D&B, (14) the possibility that 

economic conditions might lead to a reduction in the use of D&B 

products, and (15) the timing with which significant customer 

contracts are executed. D&B undertakes no obligations to publicly 

release any revision to any forward-looking statement to reflect any 

future events or circumstances.

  Price Per Share($) Dividends Per Share($)

  2000 1999

  High Low High Low 2000 1999

First Quarter 30.500   24.6875 37 29 5/16 .185 .185

Second Quarter 33.750 26.500 40 33 1/8 .185 .185

Third Quarter 34.875 28.125 37 13/16 23 3/8  .185 .185

Fourth Quarter  N/A  N/A 31 25 11/16  N/A .185

Year 34.875 24.6875 40 23 3/8 .555 .740



22

To the Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Shareholders and Board 

of Directors:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and 

the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity 

and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation and Subsidiaries at 

December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of their operations and 

their cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 

1998, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 

in the United States of America. These financial statements are the 

responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is 

to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 

audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance 

with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 

are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on 

a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 

significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall 

financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide 

a reasonable basis for our opinion.

New York, New York

February 2, 2001

To the Shareholders of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation:

Management has prepared and is responsible for the consolidated 

financial statements and related information that appear on pages 

9-47. The consolidated financial statements, which include amounts 

based on the estimates of management, have been prepared in 

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States. Other financial information in this annual report is 

consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements.

Management believes that the Company’s internal control systems 

provide reasonable assurance at reasonable cost that assets are 

safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, and 

that the financial records are reliable for preparing financial state-

ments and maintaining accountability for assets. These systems are 

augmented by written policies, an organizational structure providing 

division of responsibilities, careful selection and training of qualified 

financial personnel and a program of internal audits.

The independent accountants are engaged to conduct an audit of 

and render an opinion on the financial statements in accordance 

with generally accepted auditing standards. These standards include 

an assessment of the systems of internal controls and tests of 

transactions to the extent considered necessary by them to support 

their opinion.

The Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee, consisting 

solely of outside directors of the Company, is responsible for 

reviewing and monitoring the Company’s financial reporting and 

accounting practices. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and the internal 

auditors each have full and free access to the Audit Committee and 

meet with it regularly, with and without management.

  

Allan Z. Loren

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President

  

Chester J. Geveda, Jr.

Vice President and Controller and Acting Chief

Financial Officer

R E P O R T  O F  I N D E P E N D E N T  
A C C O U N T A N T S  

Dun & Bradstreet

S T A T E M E N T  O F  M A N A G E M E N T  
R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y  F O R  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S



Dun & Bradstreet

Lore consequismodipit exero eugait ate dunt lan hent praese 
tatis nullan henit landit autpat dolore dolore magna commolor 
si ese commy nulla commoloreet alit alis dolut euis alit la 
consequisim dio odolobore consequisit landrem vullamcon utet 
wisi estrud eumsandionullam dolenim niat eliquipis atet augait 
wismolor aliquismo olenit, consequisl eu feugiam quam dipit 
lutatuerostrud min erosto od enismolobore dolesto duipit am, 
sisi blaortisim quis augiam nonullum ver sit nulla feugue 
consed et veliqui tatue magna aliquiscil eu feuguerciliquam, 
quisi euguercinibh eliquamet eraessim quat. Ut nullaoreetum 
quipismodolore vel eugait,sequiscin ulluptat nos delissit, quam, 
venim delit ad ex ea consequat lore magnisi tie consent ipsu-
strud et ute feugait, quatis nit iriusto conse magniam ali-
quatueriure consent lor iriusciduismolut volesto eraestio core 
min venim vel ipissi eu feugait wis eugue er sendit vullandigna 
faccum nostionumsandit, volor ing et nullaorpero odionummy 
nit lorper acipsum ver si exer autpat.
Loreetue min hent adio doloboreet il exerosto odio dolutat. Dui 
er am, con utat venis erciliquat. Duis dolobore vel dolorerostrud 
tis nullummy nonulluptatueros aliscillutat in euis enis amconse 
ercincin eu faccumsan ulla conseniam quis num illa facilisis am 
diam, sim niamet la feugiam, veliquipisse diam, sum ing eugait 
luptate modoluptat lobore exer sequatum iure magnit,senibh 
eugait ad tatin utet iriustie mod elenis nullamcommolor sum 
et,sed duip estrud dolor atinit inim eleseniat, commy nulla am,

23

   Years Ended December 31,
  2000 1999  1998
  (Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Operating Revenues $ 1,417.6 $ 1,407.7 $ 1,420.5

Operating Expenses  515.9  538.3  536.2
Selling and Administrative Expenses  546.7  539.4  542.4
Depreciation and Amortization  111.2  127.9  126.2
Restructuring Expense  41.5  41.2  —
Reorganization Costs  29.5  —  28.0

 
Operating Income  172.8  160.9  187.7

Interest Income  3.9  2.9  6.3
Interest Expense  (8.6)  (5.0)  (12.0)
Minority Interest Expense  (22.4)  (22.4)  (22.5)
Other Income (Expense) — Net  6.0  9.0  (2.2) 
Non-Operating Expense — Net  (21.1)  (15.5)  (30.4) 
Income from Continuing Operations before Provision for Income Taxes  151.7   145.4   157.3
Provision for Income Taxes  78.1  64.1  71.1
Income from Continuing Operations  73.6  81.3  86.2
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Income 

Taxes of $86.2, $114.8 and $104.7 for 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively  133.0  174.7   193.9

Net Income $ 206.6 $ 256.0 $ 280.1

Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:
Continuing Operations $ .91 $ 1.00 $ 1.02
Discontinued Operations  1.64  2.16  2.29

Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock $ 2.55 $ 3.16 $ 3.31

Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:
Continuing Operations $ .90 $ .99 $ 1.00
Discontinued Operations  1.62  2.13  2.26

Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock $ 2.52 $ 3.12 $ 3.26

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding:  
Basic 81,001,000  81,127,000  84,746,000

 Diluted 81,994,000  82,142,000  85,852,000

Dun & Bradstreet

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  B A L A N C E  S H E E T S

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

  December 31, 
  2000 1999                        
  (Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Assets 
Current Assets 
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 70.1 $ 109.4
Accounts Receivable — Net of Allowance of $19.5 in 2000

and $17.4 in 1999   376.3   363.7
Other Current Assets  92.2  133.6
          Total Current Assets  538.6  606.7

Non-Current Assets 
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net   202.8   240.3
Prepaid Pension Costs  268.9  217.2
Computer Software, Net  131.3  149.8
Goodwill, Net  135.5  166.6
Other Non-Current Assets  146.5  194.2
          Total Non-Current Assets  885.0  968.1
Total Assets $ 1,423.6 $ 1,574.8

Current Liabilities 
Notes Payable $ 49.6 $ 126.2
Accrued Income Taxes            —  175.4
Other Accrued and Current Liabilities  353.5  382.2
Unearned Subscription Income  340.0  353.2
          Total Current Liabilities  743.1  1,037.0

Pension and Postretirement Benefits  373.2  365.0
Net Liabilities of Discontinued Operations            —  222.8
Other Non-Current Liabilities  56.7  64.7
Contingencies (Note 15) 
Minority Interest   301.6   301.9
Shareholders’ Equity 
Preferred Stock, $.01 par value per share, 

authorized — 10,000,000 shares; — outstanding — none 
Series Common Stock, $.01 par value per share,   

authorized — 10,000,000 shares; — outstanding — none
Common Stock, $.01 par value per share,   

authorized — 200,000,000 shares and 400,000,000 shares for 2000 and 1999, 
respectively — issued — 81,945,520 shares and 171,451,136 shares for 2000
and 1999, respectively            .8  1.7

Unearned Compensation Restricted Stock  (1.9)            —
Capital Surplus  241.1  237.3
Retained Earnings  13.2  (105.9)
Treasury Stock, at cost, 1,790,620 shares and 10,627,327   

shares for 2000 and 1999, respectively   (45.3)   (330.2)
Cumulative Translation Adjustment  (205.3)  (181.1)
Minimum Pension Liability  (53.6)  (38.4)
Total Shareholders’ Equity  (51.0)  (416.6)

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 1,423.6 $ 1,574.8
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  C A S H  F L O W S

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

                                                              Year Ended December 31, 
   2000 1999 1998 
                                                                                  (Dollar amounts in millions)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:      
Net Income $ 206.6 $ 256.0 $ 280.1
Less:      

Net Income from Discontinued Operations  133.0  174.7  193.9
Net Income from Continuing Operations  73.6  81.3  86.2
Reconciliation of Net Income to Net Cash Provided by      
  Operating Activities:      
  Depreciation and Amortization  111.2  127.9  126.2
  Restructuring Expense  41.5  41.2  —
  Restructuring Payments  (21.8)  (2.6)  —
  Postemployment Benefit Payments  (2.6)  (13.4)  (15.3)
  Net (Increase) Decrease in Accounts Receivable  (26.3)  (22.8)  9.0
  Deferred Income Taxes  18.4  16.3  (28.2)
  Accrued Income Taxes, Net  (136.7)  7.4  127.7
  Decrease in Long-Term Liabilities  (7.8)  (7.3)  (105.7)
  Increase in Other Long-Term Assets  (46.4)  (36.8)  (17.8)
  Net Decrease (Increase) in Other Working Capital Items  29.5  (56.0)  (33.4)
  Other  (4.7)  —  4.1

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities:      
  Continuing Operations  27.9  135.2  152.8
  Discontinued Operations  (4.1)  214.8  222.4
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities  23.8  350.0  375.2

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:      
Proceeds from Sales of Marketable Securities  1.2  22.5  50.9
Payments for Marketable Securities  (1.1)  (21.8)  (50.4)
Capital Expenditures  (24.1)  (34.3)  (47.2)
Additions to Computer Software and Other Intangibles  (43.0)  (75.3)  (87.2)
(Purchase of ) Proceeds from Sales of Other Investments  (5.5)  (6.3)  3.6
Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activities of Discontinued Operations  (26.2)  (12.1)  9.7
Other  14.2  10.6  (16.0)
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities  (84.5)  (116.7)  (136.6)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:      
Payment of Dividends  (89.8)  (120.1)  (137.4)
Payments for Purchase of Treasury Shares  (46.8)  (237.9)  (220.2)
Net Proceeds from Stock Plans  37.7  48.4  41.0
(Decrease) Increase in Commercial Paper Borrowings  (75.2)  88.8  (385.7)
Increase (Decrease) in Other Short-Term Borrowings  —  .6  (28.9)
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities of Discontinued Operations  195.5  1.3  1.1
Proceeds from Debt Assumed by R.H. Donnelley  —  —  500.0
Other  3.6  8.6  2.8
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities  25.0  (210.3)  (227.3)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents  (3.6)  (.3)  (1.4)
(Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents  (39.3)  22.7  9.9
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year  109.4  86.7  76.8

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $ 70.1 $ 109.4 $ 86.7
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  S H A R E H O L D E R S'  E Q U I T Y

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

 Three Years Ended December 31, 2000 

        Common  Unearned 
 Stock Compensation        Cumulative   Minimum  Total
 ($1 and $.01 Restricted  Capital  Retained      Treasury Translation  Pension   Shareholders’ Comprehensive
 Par Value) Stock Surplus  Earnings  Stock  Adjustment   Liability  Equity      Income

    (Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Balance, January 1, 1998 $ 188.4 $ — $ 80.2 $ 367.7 $ (964.0) $ (162.6) $ (37.4) $ (527.7)  
Dollar Par Common Stock:     
 Treasury Shares Reissued Under Stock 
  Options, Deferred and Other
  Compensation Plans (1,514,773)          (52.6)    85.3            32.7    
 Treasury Shares Acquired (790,800)          (27.2)      (27.2)  
Stock Dividend to Shareholders of Donnelley            183.5            183.5   
Adjustment to Penny Par Value  (169.6)    169.6           —  
Recapitalization  (17.1)    .5  (889.3)  905.9       —  
Net Income        280.1        280.1 $ 280.1
Dividends Declared ($.775 per share)        (130.4)        (130.4)  
Penny Par Common Stock:                  
 Treasury Shares Reissued Under Stock
  Options, Deferred and Other 
  Compensation Plans (837,232)            (1.3)        24.3            23.0    
 Treasury Shares Earned Under Restricted
  Stock Plan (5,595)               .6         .6   
 Treasury Shares Acquired (7,239,751)          (193.0)      (193.0)  
 Common Shares Issued Under Stock Options
  and Restricted Stock Plan (159,819)         2.1               2.1   
Change in Cumulative Translation Adjustment                  (7.6)      (7.6)   (7.6)
Change in Minimum Pension Liability              (7.2)  (7.2)  (7.2)
Unrealized Gains on Investments        .1        .1  .1
Total Comprehensive Income                  $ 265.4
Balance, December 31, 1998  1.7  —  251.1  (240.9)  (168.1)  (170.2)  (44.6)  (371.0)

Net Income        256.0        256.0 $ 256.0
Dividends Declared ($.74 per share)        (119.3)        (119.3)  
Treasury Shares Reissued Under Stock
 Options, Deferred, and Other Compensation 
 Plans and Restricted Stock Plan (2,420,300)            (13.8)     .3     71.0               57.5     
Treasury Shares Reissued Under Employee
 Stock Purchase Plan (153,097)            (.6)   4.8         4.2   
Treasury Shares Acquired (6,803,800)          (237.9)      (237.9)  
Change in Cumulative Translation Adjustment                  (10.9)      (10.9)   (10.9)
Change in Minimum Pension Liability              6.2  6.2  6.2
Unrealized Losses on Investments        (1.4)        (1.4)  (1.4)
Total Comprehensive Income                  $ 249.9
Balance, December 31, 1999  1.7  —  237.3  (105.9)  (330.2)  (181.1)  (38.4)  (416.6)

Net Income        206.6        206.6 $ 206.6
Dividends Declared ($.555 per share)        (60.0)        (60.0)  
Common Shares Issued Under Stock Options
 and Restricted Stock Plan (732,000)         8.8      (2.7)         6.1   
Treasury Shares Reissued Under Stock
 Options, Deferred, and Other Compensation
 Plans and Restricted Stock Plan (1,500,111)               (7.4)          48.1               40.7     
Treasury Shares Reissued Under Employee
 Stock Purchase Plan (183,541)            .1   5.5         5.6   
Treasury Shares Acquired (1,908,543)          (46.8)      (46.8)  
Unearned Portion of Restricted Stock Awards      (1.9)   2.4               .5   
Stock Dividend to Shareholders of Moody’s           252.5            252.5   
Recapitalization  (.9)      (279.9)  280.8       —  
Change in Cumulative Translation Adjustment                  (24.2)      (24.2)   (24.2)
Change in Minimum Pension Liability              (15.2)  (15.2)  (15.2)
Unrealized Losses on Investments        (.2)        (.2)  (.2)
Total Comprehensive Income                  $ 167.0
Balance, December 31, 2000 $ .8 $ (1.9) $ 241.1 $ 13.2 $ (45.3) $ (205.3) $ (53.6) $ (51.0)
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(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation.  The consolidated financial statements 

include those of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (the “Company” 

or “D&B”) and its subsidiaries and investments in which the 

Company has a controlling interest. Investments in companies over 

which the Company has significant influence but not a controlling 

interest are carried on an equity basis. The effects of all significant 

intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

The financial statements of subsidiaries outside the United States and 

Canada reflect a fiscal year ended November 30 to facilitate timely 

reporting of the Company’s consolidated financial results.

As discussed more thoroughly in Note 2, Moody’s Corporation and R.H. 

Donnelley Corporation are presented as discontinued operations.

Cash Equivalents.  Marketable securities that mature within 90 days 

of purchase date are considered cash equivalents and are stated at 

cost, which approximates fair value.

Marketable Securities.  In accordance with Statement of Financial 

Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 115, “Accounting for Certain 

Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” marketable securities at 

December 31, 2000 and 1999, are classified as “available for sale” 

and are reported at fair value, with net unrealized gains and losses 

reported in shareholders’ equity.

The fair value of current and non-current marketable securities was 

estimated based on quoted market prices. Realized gains and losses 

on marketable securities are determined on the specific identification 

method.

The Company’s marketable securities of $37.5 million and $45.4 

million at December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively, consisted 

primarily of debt securities of the U.S. Government and its agencies.

Property, Plant and Equipment.  Buildings, machinery and equip-

ment are depreciated principally using the straight-line method over 

a period of three to 40 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized 

on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the term of the lease or the 

estimated useful life of the improvement.

Computer Software, Goodwill and Intangible Assets.  Effective 

January 1, 1999, the Company adopted Statement of Position 

(“SOP”) 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software 

Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.” Among other provisions, 

SOP 98-1 requires that entities capitalize certain internal-use software 

costs once certain criteria are met. Under SOP 98-1, overhead, 

general and administrative and training costs are not capitalized. 

In addition, certain computer software costs are capitalized in 

accordance with SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of 

Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed,” and 

are reported at the lower of unamortized cost or net realizable value. 

Costs incurred in connection with business process reengineering are 

expensed as incurred.

Other intangibles result from acquisitions and database enhance-

ments. Computer software and other intangibles are being amortized, 

using the straight-line method, over three to five years and three to 

15 years, respectively. Goodwill represents the excess purchase price 

over the fair value of identifiable net assets of businesses acquired and 

is amortized on a straight-line basis over five to 40 years.

In accordance with SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment 

of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of,” 

the Company reviews for impairment of long-lived assets and certain 

identifiable intangibles whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 

In general, the Company will recognize an impairment loss when 

the sum of undiscounted expected future cash flows is less than 

the carrying amount of such assets. The measurement for such an 

impairment loss is then based on the fair value of the asset.

At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the recoverability 

of goodwill, not identified with long-lived assets, based on estimated 

undiscounted future cash flows from operating activities compared 

with the carrying value of goodwill, and recognizes any impairment 

on the basis of such comparison. The recognition and measurement 

of goodwill impairment is assessed at the business-unit level.

Revenue Recognition.  The Company recognizes revenue as services 

are performed, information is delivered and products and services are 

used by its customers. Amounts billed for service and subscriptions 

N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S
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are credited to unearned subscription income and reflected in 

operating revenues as used over the subscription term, which is 

generally one year.

Foreign Currency Translation.  For all operations outside the United 

States where the Company has designated the local currency as the 

functional currency, assets and liabilities are translated using the end-

of-year exchange rates, and revenues and expenses are translated using 

average exchange rates for the year. For these countries, currency 

translation adjustments are accumulated in a separate component 

of shareholders’ equity, whereas realized transaction gains and losses 

are recognized in other income (expense)–net. For operations in 

countries that are considered to be highly inflationary, where the 

U.S. dollar is designated as the functional currency, monetary assets 

and liabilities are translated using end-of-year exchange rates, and 

nonmonetary accounts are translated using historical exchange rates. 

Translation and transaction loss of $.3 million in 2000 and gains 

of $.1 million and $1.0 million in 1999 and 1998, respectively, are 

recognized in other income (expense)–net.

Earnings per Share of Common Stock.  In accordance with SFAS 

No. 128, “Earnings per Share” (“SFAS No. 128”), basic earnings per 

share are calculated based on the weighted average number of shares 

of common stock outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted 

earnings per share are calculated giving effect to all potentially 

dilutive common shares, assuming such shares were outstanding 

during the reporting period.

Financial Instruments.  At times, the Company uses forward foreign 

exchange contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge existing assets, 

liabilities and firm commitments. The Company does not use any 

derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.

Gains and losses on forward foreign exchange contracts that qualify 

as hedges of existing assets or liabilities are included in the carrying 

amounts of those assets or liabilities and are ultimately recognized in 

income as part of those carrying amounts. Gains and losses related 

to qualifying hedges of firm commitments are also deferred, and 

are recognized in income or as adjustments of carrying amounts 

when the hedged transactions occur. For forward foreign exchange 

contracts, the risk reduction is assessed on a transaction basis, and 

contract amounts and terms are matched to existing intercompany 

transactions.

The Company has used, but no longer uses, interest rate swaps to 

hedge interest rate risk on commercial paper. Settlement accounting 

is accorded to the swaps that have contractual, periodic payment 

terms considered to be aligned to the expected future commercial 

paper issuances. Periodic swap payments and receipts under interest 

rate swaps are recorded as part of interest expense. Neither the 

swap contracts nor the gains or losses on these contracts, which are 

designated and effective as hedges, are recognized in the financial 

statements.

If a hedging instrument is sold or terminated prior to maturity, gains 

and losses will continue to be deferred until the hedged item is 

recognized in income. If a hedging instrument ceases to qualify for 

settlement accounting, any subsequent gains and losses are recognized 

currently in income.

Estimates.  The preparation of financial statements in conformity 

with generally accepted accounting principles requires management 

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 

of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets 

and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual 

results could differ from those estimates. Estimates are used in 

the determination of allowances for doubtful accounts, employee 

benefits plans, taxes and contingencies, and depreciation rates for 

property, plant and equipment, computer software, goodwill and 

other capitalized costs, among others.

Reclassifications.  As discussed in Note 2, the consolidated financial 

statements have been reclassified to identify separately the results of 

operations and cash flows of the Company’s discontinued operations. 

In addition, certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to 

conform to the 2000 presentation.

Dun & Bradstreet
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Note 2 Reorganization and Discontinued 
Operations
Pursuant to APB No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations—

Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, 

and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and 

Transactions,” the consolidated financial statements of the Company 

have been reclassified to reflect as discontinued operations the 

segment conducted principally by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. as a 

result of the 2000 Distribution (as defined below) and the companies 

that constituted the directory information services business segment 

of the predecessor of D&B, as a result of the 1998 Distribution 

(as defined below).

2000 Distribution

On September 30, 2000 (the “2000 Distribution Date”), the 

company then known as The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (“Old 

D&B”) separated into two independent, publicly traded companies 

—The New D&B Corporation (the “Company”) and Moody’s 

Corporation (“Moody’s”). The separation was accomplished through 

a tax-free distribution to shareholders of Old D&B (the “2000 

Distribution”) of all of the shares of common stock of the Company. 

For every two shares of common stock of Old D&B held, share-

holders received one share of common stock of the Company. 

Following the 2000 Distribution, Old D&B was renamed “Moody’s 

Corporation” and the Company was renamed “The Dun & Bradstreet 

Corporation.”

Prior to the 2000 Distribution, Old D&B had completed an internal 

reorganization to the effect that, at the time of the 2000 Distribution, 

the business of the Company consisted solely of the business of 

supplying credit, marketing and purchasing information as well 

as receivable management services (the “D&B Business”), and the 

business of Old D&B (other than the Company and its subsidiaries) 

consisted solely of the business of providing ratings and related 

research and risk management services (the “Moody’s Business”).

Old D&B received a ruling letter from the Internal Revenue Service 

(the “IRS”) on June 15, 2000, to the effect that the receipt by Old 

D&B shareholders of the common stock of the Company in the 

2000 Distribution would be tax-free to such stockholders and Old 

D&B for Federal income tax purposes, except to the extent of 

cash received in lieu of fractional shares of common stock of the 

Company. The 2000 Distribution was effected on September 30, 

2000, and resulted in an increase to shareholders’ equity of $256.6 

million. During the fourth quarter of 2000, adjustments to the 

dividend of $4.1 million were recorded as a decrease to shareholders’ 

equity, primarily as a result of changes in estimates.

For purposes of, among other things, governing certain of the 

ongoing relations between the Company and Moody’s as a result of 

the 2000 Distribution, as well as to allocate certain tax, employee 

benefit and other liabilities arising prior to the 2000 Distribution, the 

companies entered into various agreements, including a Distribution 

Agreement (the “2000 Distribution Agreement”), Tax Allocation 

Agreement, Employee Benefits Agreement, Intellectual Property 

Assignment, Shared Transaction Services Agreement, Insurance and 

Risk Management Services Agreement, Data Services Agreement and 

Transition Services Agreement.

In general, pursuant to the terms of the 2000 Distribution Agreement, 

all of the assets of the D&B Business have been allocated to 

the Company and all of the assets of the Moody’s Business have 

been allocated to Moody’s. The 2000 Distribution Agreement also 

provided for assumptions of liabilities and cross-indemnities designed 

to allocate generally, as of September 30, 2000, financial responsibil-

ity for: (i) all liabilities arising out of or in connection with the 

D&B Business to the Company, (ii) all liabilities arising out of 

or in connection with the Moody’s Business to Moody’s, and (iii) 

substantially all other liabilities as of September 30, 2000, equally 

between the Company and Moody’s. The liabilities so allocated 

include contingent and other liabilities relating to former businesses 

of Old D&B and its predecessors and certain prior business transac-

tions, which consist primarily of potential liabilities arising from 

a legal action initiated by Information Resources, Inc. (“IRI”), or 

from reviews by tax authorities of Old D&B’s global tax planning 

initiatives, each of which is described in Note 15.

Pursuant to the terms of a distribution agreement, dated as of 

June 30, 1998 (the “1998 Distribution Agreement”), between Old 

D&B (then known as “The New Dun & Bradstreet Corporation”) 

and R.H. Donnelley Corporation (then known as “The Dun & 

Bradstreet Corporation” and herein referred to as “Donnelley”), as 

Dun & Bradstreet
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a condition to the 2000 Distribution, the Company was required 

to undertake to be jointly and severally liable with Moody’s to 

Donnelley for any liabilities arising thereunder. The 2000 Distribution 

Agreement generally allocates the financial responsibility for liabilities 

of Old D&B under the 1998 Distribution Agreement equally 

between the Company and Moody’s, except that any such liabilities 

that relate primarily to the D&B Business are liabilities of the 

Company and any such liabilities that relate primarily to the Moody’s 

Business are liabilities of Moody’s. Among other things, the Company 

and Moody’s agreed that, as between themselves, they are each 

responsible for 50% of any payments to be made under the 1998 

Distribution Agreement in respect of the action by IRI (as described 

in Note 15), including any legal fees and expenses related thereto.

In connection with the 2000 Distribution, Old D&B borrowed 

funds to repay in full its commercial paper obligations. In addition, 

pursuant to the 2000 Distribution Agreement, immediately prior to 

the 2000 Distribution, a portion of Old D&B’s indebtedness (plus 

certain minority interest obligations) and a portion of Old D&B’s 

cash were allocated to the Company in amounts such that, at the time 

of the 2000 Distribution and before giving effect to the agreement 

discussed below and certain other factors, the net indebtedness of 

the Company (plus the minority interest obligations) approximated 

the net indebtedness of Moody’s. Under the terms of the Employee 

Benefits Agreement, substantially all unexercised Old D&B stock 

options have been adjusted as of the 2000 Distribution Date to 

comprise options to purchase Moody’s common stock and separately 

exercisable options to purchase common stock of the Company. In 

light of, among other things, the numbers of optionees employed by 

the Company and Moody’s, respectively, this adjustment resulted in 

a substantially greater number of outstanding options to purchase 

common stock of Moody’s than would be the case if options had 

been adjusted so as to become solely options to purchase common 

stock of the optionee’s employer. Due to this fact and the fact that, 

consistent with past practice, each company was expected to maintain 

a stock purchase program designed to offset the increased number of 

shares otherwise attributable to option exercises, the Company agreed 

to adjust the net indebtedness of the two companies to compensate 

Moody’s for the disproportionate amount of its estimated future cash 

costs in this regard. The final amount of the adjustment discussed 

in the immediately preceding sentence has been reflected in the 

Company’s consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2000, and 

was determined on a formula basis dependent upon a variety of 

factors, including the respective trading prices of Moody’s and the 

Company’s common stock at the time of the 2000 Distribution.

Due to the relative significance of the D&B Business as compared 

with the Moody’s Business, the 2000 Distribution has been accounted 

for as a reverse spin-off. As such, the D&B Business has been 

classified as continuing operations, and the Moody’s Business as 

discontinued operations. For financial reporting purposes, the assets 

and liabilities of Moody’s have been separately classified on the bal-

ance sheet at December 31, 1999, as “Net Liabilities of Discontinued 

Operations.” A summary of these assets and liabilities follows:

The net operating results of Moody’s have been reported in the 

caption “Income from Discontinued Operations,” in the consolidated 

statements of operations. Summarized operating results for Moody’s 

for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 were as 

follows:

1998 Distribution

On June 30, 1998, the company then known as The Dun & 

Bradstreet Corporation separated into two publicly traded companies. 

The separation (the “1998 Distribution”) of the two companies 

was accomplished through a tax-free dividend by Donnelley of Old 

D&B, which was a new entity comprising Moody’s and the Dun 

& Bradstreet operating company. That new entity is now known as 

“The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation,” and the continuing entity, 

consisting of R.H. Donnelley Inc., the operating company, and the 

DonTech partnership, changed its name from The Dun & Bradstreet 

Dun & Bradstreet

  
 December 31, 1999 

Current assets $ 178.3
Total assets  211.0
Current liabilities  377.8
Total liabilities  433.8
Net liabilities of discontinued operations  222.8

  
For the Year Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998
Operating revenues $ 441.1 $ 564.2 $ 513.9
Income before provision for income taxes  219.2  289.5  242.4
Net income  133.0  174.7  160.2
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Corporation to R.H. Donnelley Corporation (i.e., Donnelley). Due 

to the relative significance of the new entity as compared with 

Donnelley, the transaction was accounted for as a reverse spin-off and, 

as such, Moody’s and the D&B operating company were classified as 

continuing operations, and Donnelley and DonTech were classified 

as discontinued operations. On June 3, 1998, following receipt of 

a ruling from the IRS that the transaction would be tax-free to 

Donnelley and its U.S. shareholders, the Board of Directors of 

Donnelley declared a dividend distribution to shareholders of record 

on June 17, 1998, consisting of one share of Old D&B for each 

share of Donnelley common stock held as of the record date. The 

1998 Distribution was effected on June 30, 1998, and resulted in an 

increase to shareholders’ equity of $188.5 million. During the fourth 

quarter of 1998, adjustments to the dividend of $5.0 million were 

recorded as a decrease to shareholders’ equity of Old D&B, primarily 

as a result of employee benefits plan revisions.

For purposes of governing certain of the ongoing relationships 

between Old D&B and Donnelley following the 1998 Distribution, 

the companies entered into various agreements, including the 1998 

Distribution Agreement and the related Tax Allocation Agreement, 

Employee Benefits Agreement, Intellectual Property Agreement, 

Shared Transaction Services Agreement, Data Services Agreement 

and Transition Services Agreements.

The net operating results of the Directory Information Services 

segment, which is now a part of Donnelley, have been reported in the 

caption “Income from Discontinued Operations” in the consolidated 

statements of operations of the Company. Summarized operating 

results for this Directory Information Services segment for the year 

ended December 31, 1998 were as follows:

Note 3 Summary of Recent Accounting 
Pronouncements
In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued 

SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 

Activities” (“SFAS No. 133”). This statement establishes accounting 

and reporting standards for derivative instruments, including certain 

derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging 

activities. It requires recognition of all derivatives as either assets or 

liabilities on the balance sheet and measurement of those instruments 

at fair value. If certain conditions are met, a derivative may be 

designated specifically as: (a) a hedge of the exposure to changes in 

the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or an unrecognized 

firm commitment (a fair value hedge), (b) a hedge of the exposure to 

variable cash flows of a forecasted transaction (a cash flow hedge), or 

(c) a hedge of the foreign currency exposure of a net investment in 

a foreign operation, an unrecognized firm commitment, an available-

for-sale security, or a foreign-currency-denominated forecasted trans-

action. In June 1999, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 

issued SFAS No. 137, delaying the effective date of SFAS No. 133. 

The provisions of SFAS No. 133 are effective for all fiscal quarters 

of all fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000. The adoption of 

SFAS No. 133 by D&B, effective January 1, 2001, had no effect 

on the Company.

Note 4 Restructuring
During the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company announced a new 

business strategy, The Blueprint for Growth, designed to transform 

the Company into a growth company with an important presence 

on the Web, while also delivering shareholder value during the 

transformation.

One component of the strategy is the reallocation of approximately 

$100 million from the Company’s cost base to create the financial 

flexibility needed to implement the new strategy. In the fourth 

quarter of 2000, the Company announced actions designed to 

create approximately $100 million in financial flexibility in 2001, 

which includes globalizing administrative functions, streamlining 

data collection and fulfillment, rationalizing sales and marketing 

functions, and consolidating and simplifying technology functions. 

The Company will utilize the newly created financial flexibility 

to enhance its current business, fund its strategy to become an 

important player in B2B e-commerce and support annual earnings 

per share growth of 10%.

During the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company recorded a 

restructuring charge of $41.5 million in connection with The 

Dun & Bradstreet
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Operating revenues $ 107.8
Income before provision for income taxes  56.2
Net income  33.7
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Blueprint for Growth plan. The charge included $28.2 million 

related to severance costs in connection with the termination of 

approximately 880 associates. The costs were determined based on 

amounts that will be paid pursuant to the Company’s policies and 

certain non-US governmental regulations. Leasehold termination 

obligations arising from office closures represent $8.8 million and the 

write-off of certain assets made obsolete or redundant and abandoned 

as a result of the plan represent $4.5 million. As of December 

31, 2000, the Company had terminated approximately 100 of the 

affected employees. The Company anticipates that all actions under 

this plan will be completed by the end of 2001 and considers 

the 2000 restructuring reserve balances to be adequate to cover 

committed restructuring actions.

During the fourth quarter of 1999, the Company recorded a 

restructuring charge of $41.2 million, comprised of severance costs of 

$32.7 million in connection with the termination of approximately 

700 associates, including two former corporate executives, write-off 

of certain assets made obsolete or redundant and abandoned of 

$3.9 million and leasehold termination obligations of $4.6 million. 

The actions implemented under the plan included: (1) office 

consolidations and organization changes in both Europe and other 

international locations and improvements in sales and data collection 

operations in Europe, (2) realigning and streamlining the Company’s 

global technology organization and outsourcing certain software and 

product development to resources outside the United States and 

Europe, and (3) migrating data collection in the U.S. to telephonic 

data collection and closing 15 U.S. field data collection offices. As 

of December 31, 2000, the Company has terminated approximately 

530 employees out of the approximately 700 originally contemplated. 

The remaining terminations will be completed by the end of January 

2001 and payment of substantially all the related costs will be 

made by the end of 2001. The remaining 1999 restructuring reserve 

balances are considered adequate to cover committed restructuring 

actions. During the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company changed 

certain estimates with respect to costs associated with the remaining 

actions to be taken under the plan.

Dun & Bradstreet

In 2000, the Company incurred pre-tax expenses (primarily profes-

sional fees) of $29.5 million in connection with the 2000 Distribution. 

In the third quarter of 2000, the Company received a $10.1 million 

settlement of a lawsuit related to a 1991 business transaction. The 

settlement payment was recorded in other income (expense)–net.

During the fourth quarter of 1999, the Company received $11.9 

million to settle litigation that arose from a transaction related to the 

1996 sale of the Dun & Bradstreet software company. The Company 

recorded the $11.9 million gain in other income (expense)–net.

In 1998, the Company incurred pre-tax expenses of $28.0 million in 

connection with the separation of Donnelley (primarily professional 

fees of $19.1 million and costs resulting from the termination of 

interest rate swaps of $8.9 million).

Note 5 Non-Recurring Items

The restructuring reserves and utilization to date were as follows: 
  As of December 31, 2000 
  Amount Amount Amounts Remaining
 Charged Utilized Adjusted Reserve
2000 Restructuring Charge :        

Severance and termination benef its $ 28.2 $ (.8)    $ 27.4
Asset write-offs and impairments  4.5  (4.5)      —
Lease termination obligations  8.8          —     8.8
     Total 2000 Restructuring Charge $ 41.5 $ (5.3)    $ 36.2

1999 Restructuring Charge :        
Severance and termination benef its $ 32.7 $ (22.7) $ 2.1  $ 12.1
Asset write-offs  3.9  (3.9)   —   —
Lease termination obligations  4.6  (.9)  (2.1)  1.6
     Total 1999 Restructuring Charge $ 41.2 $ (27.5) $      — $ 13.7
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Note 6 Reconciliation of Weighted Average Shares

As required by SFAS No. 128, the Company has provided a 

reconciliation of basic weighted average shares to diluted weighted 

average shares within the tables outlined above. Options to purchase 

4.4 million, 1.5 million and 1.7 million shares of common stock of 

the Company were outstanding at December 31, 2000, 1999 and 

1998, respectively, but were not included in the computation of 

diluted earnings per share because the options’ exercise prices were 

greater than the average market price of the Company’s common 

stock. The Company’s options generally expire 10 years after the 

initial grant date.

Upon the 2000 Distribution, substantially all unexercised Old D&B 

stock options were adjusted to comprise options to purchase Moody’s 

common stock and separately exercisable options to purchase the 

Company’s common stock. The value of the replacement awards 

preserved as closely as possible the value of the awards that existed 

immediately prior to the Distribution. The number of shares of 

Moody’s common stock covered by the adjusted Moody’s stock 

options is the same number of shares covered by the Old D&B stock 

options. The number of shares of the Company’s common stock 

covered by the new D&B stock options equals 50% of the number of 

shares covered by the unexercised Old D&B stock options.

Upon the 1998 Distribution, employees of the Company were 

granted substitute options, preserving the economic value, as closely 

as possible, of the options that existed immediately prior to the 1998 

Distribution, and any awards or options held by them in respect of 

Donnelley were canceled.

Note 7 Financial Instruments with Off-Balance 
Sheet Risks
The Company uses short-term forward foreign exchange contracts 

and in the past has used interest rate swap agreements to reduce 

exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and in interest 

rates. The Company does not use derivative financial instruments 

for trading or speculative purposes. If a hedging instrument ceases 

to qualify as a hedge, any subsequent gains and losses are recognized 

currently in income. Collateral is generally not required for these 

types of instruments.

By their nature, all such instruments involve risk, including the credit 

risk of non-performance by counterparties. However, at December 

31, 2000 and 1999, in management’s opinion there was no significant 

risk of loss in the event of non-performance of the counterparties to 

these financial instruments. The Company controls its exposure to 

credit risk through monitoring procedures.

Foreign Exchange

In order to reduce the risk of foreign currency exchange rate fluctua-

tions, the Company follows a policy of hedging substantially all 

cross-border intercompany transactions denominated in a currency 

other than the functional currency applicable to each of its various 

subsidiaries. The financial instruments used to hedge these cross-

border intercompany transactions are forward foreign exchange con-

tracts with maturities of six months or less. These forward contracts 

are executed with creditworthy institutions and are denominated 

primarily in the British pound sterling, the euro and the Swedish 

krona. The gains and losses on these forward contracts are recorded 

to income or expense and are essentially offset by the gains and losses 

on the underlying foreign currency transactions.

At December 31, 2000 and 1999, the Company had approximately 

$181 million and $138 million of forward foreign exchange contracts 

outstanding with various expiration dates through March 2001 and 

March 2000, respectively. At December 31, 2000, unrealized gains on 

these contracts were $1.0 million, and the unrealized losses were $1.7 

million. At December 31, 1999, unrealized gains on these contracts 

were $.9 million, and the unrealized losses were $.4 million.

Dun & Bradstreet

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

 2000 1999 1998 
 (share data in thousands)
Weighted average number of shares - basic 81,001 81,127 84,746

Dilutive effect of shares issuable under stock options,
  restricted stock and performance share plans 849 942 1,009

Adjustment of shares applicable to stock options
  exercised during the period and performance share
  plans 144 73 97

Weighted average number of shares - diluted 81,994 82,142 85,852
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Note 8 Pension & Postretirement Benefits

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

In the past, the Company has entered into interest rate swap 

agreements to manage exposure to changes in interest rates. Interest 

rate swaps allowed the Company to raise funds at floating rates and 

effectively swap them into fixed rates that were lower than those 

available to it if fixed-rate borrowings were to be made directly.

In connection with the 1998 Distribution and repayment of outstand-

ing notes payable, Donnelley canceled all of its interest rate swap 

agreements (which fixed interest rates on $300 million of variable rate 

debt through January 2005) and recorded into income the previously 

unrecognized fair value loss at the time of termination. At the time of 

the cancellation, the fair value of the interest rate swaps was a loss of 

$12.7 million, of which $3.8 million ($.6 million in the first quarter 

of 1998 and $3.2 million in 1997) had been recognized in income 

relating to swaps that did not qualify for settlement accounting. The 

previously unrecognized loss of $8.9 million was recorded during the 

second quarter of 1998 and included in reorganization costs.         

  Pension Plans Postretirement Benefits
   2000 1999 2000 1999
Change in Benefit Obligations
Benefit obligation at January 1 $ (1,152.9) $ (1,236.2) $ (193.5) $ (214.0)
Service cost  (19.0)  (18.4)  (2.1)  (2.9)
Interest cost  (86.5)  (81.6)  (14.4)  (13.8)
Benefits paid  92.1  88.5  18.5  17.8
Impact of 2000 Distribution  30.9  —  3.2  —
Actuarial (loss) gain  (33.8)  94.8  (3.5)  22.1
Plan participant contributions  (17.9)  —  (2.8)  (2.7)
Benefit obligation at December 31 $ (1,187.1) $ (1,152.9) $ (194.6) $ (193.5)
 
Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at January 1 $ 1,680.6 $ 1,465.1 $ — $ —
Actual return on plan assets  (63.6)  279.6  —  —
Employer contribution  28.8  24.4  15.7  15.1
Impact of 2000 Distribution  (88.0)  —  —  —
Plan participant contributions  —  —  2.8  2.7
Benefits paid  (92.1)  (88.5)  (18.5)  (17.8)
Fair value of plan assets at December 31 $ 1,465.7 $ 1,680.6 $ — $ —
 
Reconciliation of Funded Status to Total Amount Recognized
Funded status of plan $ 278.6 $ 527.7 $ (194.6) $ (193.5)
Unrecognized actuarial (gain) loss  (133.5)  (380.8)  .2  (3.3)
Unrecognized prior service cost  24.2  28.7  —  —
Unrecognized net transition asset  (.9)  (12.5)  —  —
Net amount recognized $ 168.4 $ 163.1 $ (194.4) $ (196.8)
 
Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
Prepaid pension costs $ 268.9 $ 266.9 $ — $ —
Pension and postretirement benefits  (170.7)  (162.5)  (194.4)  (196.8)
Intangible assets  16.6  20.3  —  —
Minimum pension liability  53.6  38.4  —  —
Net amount recognized $ 168.4 $ 163.1 $ (194.4) $ (196.8)
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1999 benefit obligations and plan assets include amounts attributable to 

Moody’s. The net amount recognized attributable to Moody’s has been 

included in the net liabilities of discontinued operations. The Company 

has retained the obligation for all pension and postretirement benefits 

for personnel who retired from Moody’s prior to the 2000 Distribution 

and for the obligation for all vested benefits accrued by Moody’s active 

employees under the Old D&B nonqualified supplemental pension plans 

through the date of the 2000 Distribution.

Dun & Bradstreet

For measurements purposes, a 6.5% annual rate of increase in the 

per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed for 2001. 

The rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 5.0% for 2021 and 

remain at that level thereafter.

Assumed health-care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the 

amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-percentage-point 

change in the assumed health care cost trend rates would have the 

following effects.

Profit Participation Plan

The Company also has a profit participation plan covering substan-

tially all U.S. employees that provides for an employee salary deferral 

contribution and Company contributions. Employees may contribute 

up to 16% of their pay. The Company contributes an amount equal 

to 50% of employee contributions, up to 6% of the employee’s 

pay. The Company also makes contributions to the plan if certain 

objectives are met. The Company recognized expense associated with 

the plan of $11.7 million, $12.1 million and $16.4 million in 2000, 

1999 and 1998, respectively.

Note 9 Employee Stock Plans
Under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive 

Plan, the Company has granted options to certain associates to 

purchase shares of its common stock at the market price on the date 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

The benefit obligation and accumulated benefit obligation for pension 

plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were 

$182.5 million and $170.7 million in 2000 and $176.9 million and 

$162.5 million in 1999. Grantor trusts are used to fund these obligations. 

At December 31, 2000 and 1999, the balance of those trusts were $37.3 

million and $45.2 million, respectively.

 Pension Plans Postretirement Benefits 
  2000 1999 1998 2000 1999 1998 
Components of Net Periodic (Income) Cost
Service cost $ 19.0 $ 18.4 $ 18.2 $ 2.1  $ 2.9  $ 2.8
Interest cost  86.5  81.6  82.6  14.4   13.8   14.3
Expected return on plan assets  (130.6)  (114.0)  (109.4)          —          —          —
Amortization of transition obligation (asset)  1.8  (11.7)  3.1          —          —          —
Amortization of prior service cost  3.5  3.8  4.4          —  (2.7)  (4.4)
Recognized actuarial (gain) loss  (10.4)  6.6  (10.4)          —          —          —

Net periodic pension (income) cost $ (30.2) $ (15.3) $ (11.5) $ 16.5  $ 14.0  $ 12.7 

  Pension Plans         Postretirement Benefits 
 2000 1999 1998 2000   1999 1998 
Assumptions as of December 31:         
Discount rate  7.50%  7.75%  6.75%  7.50%  7.75%          6.75%
Expected return on plan assets  9.75  9.75  9.75    —        —            —
Rate of compensation increase  4.66  4.91  3.91  4.66    4.91   3.91
Cash balance accumulation conversion rate  5.75  6.50  5.50         —          —            —

 1% Point 
  Increase Decrease 
Benef it obligation at end of year $ 16.4 $ (15.0)
Service cost plus interest cost  1.4  (1.2)
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of the grant. Options granted in December 2000 generally vest in 

three equal installments, beginning on the third anniversary of the 

grant. These options expire 10 years from the date of the grant. The 

Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan provides 

for the granting of up to 9.7 million shares of common stock of 

the Company.

Upon the 2000 Distribution (under the 2000 Dun & Bradstreet 

Corporation Replacement Plan for Certain Employees Holding Dun 

& Bradstreet Corporation Equity-Based Awards), substantially all 

unexercised Old D&B stock options were adjusted to comprise 

options to purchase Moody’s common stock and separately exercis-

able options to purchase the Company’s common stock. The value of 

the replacement awards preserved as closely as possible the value of 

the awards that existed immediately prior to the 2000 Distribution. 

The number of shares of Moody’s common stock covered by the 

adjusted Moody’s stock options is the same number of shares covered 

by the Old D&B stock options. The number of shares of the 

Company’s common stock covered by the new D&B stock options 

equals 50% of the number of shares covered by the unexercised Old 

D&B stock options.

The Company applies APB No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued 

to Employees,” and related interpretations in accounting for its 

plans. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for 

the stock option plans. The Company has adopted the disclosure-

only provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based 

Compensation” (“SFAS No. 123”). Had compensation cost for the 

Company’s stock option plans been determined based on the fair 

value at the grant date for awards in 2000, 1999 and 1998 (excluding 

awards granted to employees of discontinued operations) consistent 

with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, the Company’s income from 

continuing operations and earnings per share would have been 

reduced to the pro-forma amounts indicated below:
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The pro forma disclosures shown are not representative of the effects on income and earnings per share in future years.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted 
average assumptions:

Options outstanding at December 31, 2000, were originally granted 

during the years 1991 through 2000 and are exercisable over 

periods ending not later than 2010. At December 31, 2000, 

1999 and 1998 options for 3,215,849 shares, 7,899,386 shares 

and 8,527,343 shares of common stock of the Company, respec-

tively, were exercisable and 6,778,907 shares, 9,087,997 shares and 

12,427,373 shares of the Company, respectively, were available for 

future grants under the plans.

  2000 1999 1998 
Income from continuing operations:      
  As reported $ 73.6 $ 81.3 $ 86.2
  Pro forma  66.1  75.5  81.2
Basic earnings per share of common stock from continuing operations:      
  As reported  .91  1.00  1.02
  Pro forma  .82  .94  .96
Diluted earnings per share of common stock from continuing operations:      
  As reported  .90  .99  1.00
  Pro forma  .81  .92  .94

     Conversion
 After 2000 Prior to 2000  After 1998 at 1998 Prior to 1998 
 Distribution Distribution 1999 Distribution Distribution Distribution

Expected dividend yield 0% 2.40% 2.40% 2.75% 2.75% 3.3%
Expected stock volatility 35% 30% 30% 20% 20% 20%
Risk-free interest rate 5.47% 5.49% 6.41% 5.38% 5.42% 5.53%
Expected holding period 5.0 years 5.0 years 5.0 years 6.0 years 2.3 years 4.5 years
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Changes in stock options for the three years ended December 31, 2000, are summarized as follows:

Dun & Bradstreet

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2000, 1999 and 1998 was $9.40, $8.78 and $7.13, respectively.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2000:

The plans also provide for the granting of stock appreciation 

rights (“SARs”) and limited stock appreciation rights (“LSARs”) in 

tandem with stock options to certain key employees. Upon the 2000 

Distribution, substantially all the Old D&B SARs and LSARs were 

adjusted or converted into awards of the Company and Moody’s. 

The value of the replacement awards preserved as closely as possible 

the value of the awards that existed immediately prior to the 2000 

Distribution. At December 31, 2000 there were 111,494 SARs and 

1,974,352 LSARs attached to stock options, which are exercisable 

only if, and to the extent that, the related option is exercisable 

and, in the case of LSARs, only upon the occurrence of specified 

contingent events.

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

  Stock Options Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable 
      Weighted Average
  Range of  Remaining Weighted Average  Weighted Average
 E xercise Prices Shares Contractual Life Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

 $8.93 - $14.86 5,443,217 6.4 Years $ 12.41 3,210,883 $ 11.30
 $15.06 - $23.72 5,477,831 8.1 Years $ 20.57 4,966 $ 15.91
  Total 10,921,048    3,215,849  

 Weighted Average
 Shares Exercise Price($)
Options outstanding at January 1, 1998 15,719,328 23.36
  Granted 87,390 32.84
  Exercised (1,305,111) 20.77
  Surrendered or expired (336,444) 24.53

Options outstanding at June 30, 1998 14,165,163 23.63
Attributable to 1998 Distribution (1,206,985) 24.78

Options outstanding at June 30, 1998 12,958,178 23.52

Options converted at July 1, 1998 13,734,489 22.19
  Granted 4,171,907 32.47
  Exercised (1,095,003) 18.84
  Surrendered or expired (432,396) 26.35

Options outstanding at December 31, 1998 16,378,997 24.92
  Granted 3,656,224 29.31
  Exercised (2,286,242) 19.99
  Surrendered or expired (825,818) 29.26

Options outstanding at December 31, 1999 16,923,161 26.32
  Granted 1,290,770 29.33
  Exercised (1,258,366) 21.34
  Surrendered or expired (1,628,583) 29.82

Options outstanding at September 30, 2000 15,326,982 26.62

Options converted at October 1, 2000 8,425,788 13.31
  Granted 3,223,593 23.72
  Exercised (587,948) 10.71
  Surrendered or expired (140,385) 14.98

Options outstanding at December 31, 2000 10,921,048 16.50
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Note 10 Income Taxes
Income before provision for income taxes consisted of:

 

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consisted of: 

Upon the 2000 Distribution, restricted stock of Old D&B 

that had been granted to key associates was forfeited and 

replaced with D&B common stock, and restricted stock held 

by members of the board of directors of the Company was 

forfeited and replaced with D&B and Moody's common stock, 

preserving the economic value that existed immediately prior 

to the 2000 Distribution. During the fourth quarter of 2000, 

151,390 shares of restricted stock were replaced or granted 

and were outstanding at December 31, 2000. During 1999 

and 1998, no new awards of restricted stock were granted, 

and during 1998, 36,620 shares of Old D&B common stock 

were replaced. There were no forfeitures during 2000, 1999 

or 1998. The restrictions on the majority of such shares lapse 

over a period of three years from the date of the grant, and the 

cost is charged to compensation expense ratably.

Under the 1998 Key Employees’ Stock Incentive Plan of Old D&B, 

key employees were granted shares of common stock based on the 

achievement of two-year revenue growth goals or other key operating 

objectives, where appropriate. At the end of the performance period, 

company performance at target yielded the targeted amount of 

shares, whereas company performance above or below target resulted 

in larger or smaller share awards, respectively. Awards that were 

outstanding at the 2000 Distribution were canceled and replaced 

with new awards, preserving the economic value that existed prior to 

the 2000 Distribution, however no new shares were issued in 2000. 

Recorded in selling and administrative expenses was compensation 

expense of $14.9 million and $16.0 million in 1999 and 1998, 

respectively for the 1998 Key Employees’ Stock Incentive Plan. In 

2000, targets were not met, and as such no expense was recorded 

for the plan.
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  2000 1999 1998 
U.S. $ 171.2 $ 173.1 $ 166.2
Non-U.S.   (19.5)  (27.7)  (8.9)
Income before provision for income taxes $ 151.7 $ 145.4 $ 157.3

  2000 1999 1998 
Current tax provision:      
U.S. Federal $ 43.0 $ 40.9 $ 90.1
State and local  1.5  2.8  (2.5)
Non-U.S.  13.7  4.1  11.7
          Total current tax provision  58.2  47.8  99.3
Deferred tax provision (benefit):      
U.S. Federal  28.9  12.9  (36.5)
State and local  2.6  .6  7.0
Non-U.S.  (11.6)  2.8  1.3
          Total deferred tax provision (benefit)  19.9  16.3  (28.2)
Provision for income taxes $ 78.1 $ 64.1 $ 71.1
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The following table summarizes the significant differences between the U.S. Federal statutory tax rate and the Company’s effective tax rate for 

financial statement purposes.

The Company has not provided for U.S. deferred income taxes 

or foreign withholding taxes on $138.5 million of undistributed 

earnings of its non-U.S. subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000, since 

these earnings are intended to be reinvested indefinitely. During 

2000, the Company changed its method for determining the tax 

liability that would arise if such earnings were remitted to the United 

States. As of December 31, 2000, however, the Company has not 

determined the tax liability that would arise if these earnings were 

remitted, as the determination of such liability is not practicable.

During the three year period ended December 31, 1983, the 

Company invested $304.4 million in tax-leasing transactions, varying 

in length from 4.5 to 25 years. These leases provided the Company 
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with significant benefits from tax deductions in excess of taxable 

income for Federal income tax purposes. These amounts are included 

in deferred income taxes.

Note 11 Notes Payable and Other Indebtedness
Notes payable consisted of the following at December 31: 

 

The weighted average interest rates on outstanding commercial paper 

and notes payable at December 31, 2000 and 1999, were 6.85% 

and 5.90%, respectively.

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Income taxes paid were $219.5 million, $165.1 million and $136.5 million in 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively. Income taxes refunded were $21.5 

million, $26.7 million and $32.1 million in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are comprised of the following at December 31:
  2000 1999 1998 

Deferred tax assets:      
Operating losses $ 82.0 $ 59.5 $ 48.3
Postretirement benefits  31.1  63.0  77.7
Intangibles  43.7  48.5  56.1
Postemployment benefits  2.4  2.9  2.7
Restructuring and reorganization costs  15.4  10.2  16.1
Bad debts  5.4  3.8  3.3
Other  .4  .4  1.9
          Total deferred tax assets  180.4  188.3  206.1
Valuation allowance  (77.6)  (59.5)  (48.3)
Net deferred tax assets  102.8  128.8  157.8
Deferred tax liabilities:      
Tax leasing transactions  (15.7)  (18.3)  (20.4)
Depreciation  (.3)  (3.8)  (14.4)
          Total deferred tax liability  (16.0)  (22.1)  (34.8)
Net deferred tax asset $ 86.8 $ 106.7 $ 123.0

  2000 1999
Commercial paper   $ 49.5 $ 124.7
Bank notes    .1  1.5
    $ 49.6 $ 126.2

     
 2000 1999 1998 

Statutory tax rate  35.0%  35.0%  35.0%
State and local taxes, net of U.S. Federal tax benefit  1.8  1.5  1.9
Non-U.S. taxes  1.3  4.7  8.2
Recognition of ordinary losses        —       —   (6.7)
Reorganization costs  8.0  3.4  4.0
Interest  5.3      —        —
Other        —     (.5)  2.8
Effective tax rate  51.4%  44.1%  45.2%
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In September 2000, the Company entered into a $175 million 

364-day revolving credit facility and a $175 million five year revolv-

ing credit facility. Under these facilities, the Company has the ability 

to borrow at prevailing short-term interest rates. The Company has 

had no borrowings outstanding under these facilities since they were 

established in September 2000.

At December 31, 2000, the Company also had non-committed lines 

of credit of $13 million and had no borrowings outstanding under 

these lines of credit as of that date. These arrangements have no 

material commitment fees or compensating balance requirements.

Interest paid totaled $8.3 million, $4.5 million and $12.1 million for 

the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

In connection with the 1998 Distribution, during June 1998 R.H. 

Donnelley Inc. borrowed $350 million under the R.H. Donnelley 

Inc. credit facility and issued $150 million of senior subordinated 

notes under the R.H. Donnelley Inc. indenture. This $500 million 

of debt remained an obligation of R.H. Donnelley Inc. after the 

1998 Distribution. A portion of the proceeds of this borrowing 

was used by Donnelley to repay outstanding indebtedness at the 

time of the 1998 Distribution of $287.1 million. The remainder of 

the proceeds was used for general corporate purposes, including the 

payment of costs and expenses associated with the reorganization.

Note 12 Investment Partnership
During 1993, the Company participated in the formation of a 

limited partnership to invest in various securities, including those of 

the Company. Third-party investors held limited-partner and special 

investors’ interests totaling $500 million. During the fourth quarter 

of 1996, the Company redeemed these partnership interests. This 

redemption was financed with short-term borrowings.

The partnership is presently engaged in the business of licensing 

database assets and computer software. One of the Company’s 

subsidiaries serves as managing general partner, and two subsidiaries 

hold limited-partner interests. In April 1997, the partnership raised 

$300 million of minority interest financing from an unrelated 

investor. This transaction was assumed by Old D&B in connection 

with the 1998 Distribution and thereafter by the Company in 

the 2000 Distribution. Under the terms of the limited partnership 

agreement that governs the minority interest financing, the unrelated 

partner is entitled to receive an amount per annum equal to 7.47% 

of its initial investment payable quarterly in arrears, provided that 

there are sufficient partnership profits. The partnership agreement 

allocates other items of profit, gain, loss, and deductions among 

the partners. At December 31, 2000 and 1999, the third-party 

investment in this partnership was included in minority interest.

Pursuant to the terms of the partnership agreement, on December 

15, 2000, the unrelated partner initiated a process that could have 

resulted in dissolution and liquidation of the partnership as early as 

February 25, 2001. Such dissolution has been prevented, however, 

through the D&B partner having elected on December 27, 2000, to 

exercise its right to purchase the unrelated partner’s interest in the 

partnership. This purchase will be made in the first quarter of 

2001. The Company expects that it will fund the purchase price 

through the issuance of debt, the issuance of commercial paper, or a 

combination of the foregoing. In the opinion of management, this 

funding will not have a material effect on the Company’s financial 

position or results of operation.

For financial reporting purposes, the results of operations, assets, 

liabilities and cash flows of the partnership described above are 

included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Note 13 Capital Stock
The total number of shares of all classes of stock that the Company 

has authority to issue under its Restated Certificate of Incorporation 

is 220,000,000 shares, of which 200,000,000 shares, par value 

$.01 per share, represent Common Stock (the “Common Stock”), 

10,000,000 shares, par value $.01 per share, represent shares of 

Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Stock”) and 10,000,000 shares, par 

value $.01 per share, represent shares of Series Common Stock (the 

“Series Common Stock”). The board of directors of the Company 

has designated 500,000 shares of the Preferred Stock as Series A 

Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value $.01 per share. The 

Preferred Stock and the Series Common Stock can be issued with 

varying terms, as determined by the board of directors.
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On September 30, 2000, 81,213,520 shares of Common Stock were 

distributed to the shareholders of Old D&B. Since the Company 

has been treated as the successor entity for accounting purposes, the 

Company’s historical financial statements reflect the recapitalization 

in connection with the 2000 Distribution, including the elimination 

of treasury shares (which shares became treasury shares of Moody’s) 

and the authorization of the Common Stock, Preferred Stock and 

Series Common Stock.

In connection with the 2000 Distribution, the Company entered into 

a Rights Agreement with EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., designed to 

(i) minimize the prospects of changes in control that could jeopardize 

the tax-free nature of the 2000 Distribution by assuring meaningful 

board of directors involvement in any such proposed transaction and 

(ii) protect shareholders of the Company in the event of unsolicited 

offers to acquire the Company and other coercive takeover tactics 

that, in the opinion of the board of directors of the Company, could 

impair its ability to represent shareholder interests. Under the Rights 

Agreement, each share of the Common Stock has a right that trades 

with the stock until the right becomes exercisable. Each right entitles 

the registered holder to purchase one one-thousandth of a share of 

Series A Junior Participating Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share, 

at a price of $125 per one one-thousandth of a share, subject to 

adjustment. The rights will generally not be exercisable until a person 

or group (an “Acquiring Person”) acquires beneficial ownership of, or 

commences a tender offer or exchange offer that would result in such 

person or group having beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the 

outstanding Common Stock.

In the event that any person or group becomes an Acquiring Person, 

each right will thereafter entitle its holder (other than the Acquiring 

Person) to receive, upon exercise, that number of shares of Common 

Stock having a market value of two times the exercise price.

In the event that, after a person or group has become an Acquiring 

Person, the Company is acquired in a merger or other business 

combination transaction or 50% or more of its consolidated assets 

or earning power are sold, proper provision will be made so that 

each right will entitle its holder (other than the Acquiring Person) 

to receive, upon exercise, that number of shares of common stock of 

the person with whom the Company has engaged in the foregoing 

transaction (or its parent), which number of shares at the time 

of such transaction will have a market value of two times the 

exercise price.

The Company may redeem the rights, which expire on August 15, 

2010, for $.01 per right, under certain circumstances.

Note 14 Lease Commitments
Certain of the Company’s operations are conducted from leased 

facilities, which are under operating leases that expire over the next 

10 years. The Company also leases certain computer and other 

equipment under operating leases that expire over the next three 

years. These leases are frequently renegotiated or otherwise changed 

as advancements in computer technology produce opportunities to 

lower costs and improve performance. Additionally, the Company 

has agreements with various third parties to purchase certain data 

processing and telecommunication services extending beyond one 

year. Rental expenses under operating leases were $52.4 million, 

$71.8 million and $59.6 million for the years ended December 31, 

2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. Future minimum lease payments 

under noncancelable leases at December 31, 2000 are as follows:

Note 15 Contingencies
The Company is involved in legal proceedings, claims and litigation 

arising in the ordinary course of business. Although the outcome of 

such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, in the opinion of 

management, the ultimate liability of the Company in connection 

with such matters will not have a material effect on the Company’s 

results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

In addition, the Company also has certain other contingencies 

discussed below.

Information Resources

On July 29, 1996, Information Resources, Inc. (“IRI”) filed a 

complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern 

District of New York, naming as defendants Donnelley, A.C. Nielsen 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 Thereafter Total

$ 37.5 $ 25.6 $ 18.2 $ 9.2 $ 7.2 $ 14.3 $ 112.0
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Company (a subsidiary of ACNielsen Corporation) and IMS 

International, Inc. (a subsidiary of the company then known 

as Cognizant Corporation). At the time of the filing of the 

complaint, each of the other defendants was a wholly owned 

subsidiary of Donnelley.

The complaint alleges various violations of United States antitrust 

laws, including alleged violations of Section 1 and 2 of the Sherman 

Act. The complaint also alleges a claim of tortious interference with 

a contract and a claim of tortious interference with a prospective 

business relationship. These claims relate to the acquisition by 

defendants of Survey Research Group Limited (“SRG”). IRI alleges 

SRG violated an alleged agreement with IRI when it agreed to be 

acquired by the defendants and that the defendants induced SRG 

to breach that agreement.

IRI’s complaint alleges damages in excess of $350 million, which 

amount IRI asked to be trebled under antitrust laws. IRI also seeks 

punitive damages in an unspecified amount. No amount in respect 

of these alleged damages has been accrued in the consolidated 

financial statements of the Company.

In November 1996, Donnelley completed a distribution to its 

shareholders (the “1996 Distribution”) of the capital stock of 

ACNielsen Corporation (“ACNielsen”) and Cognizant Corporation 

(“Cognizant”). On October 28, 1996, in connection with the 1996 

Distribution, Cognizant, ACNielsen and Donnelley entered into an 

Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreement (the “Indemnity and Joint 

Defense Agreement”) pursuant to which they have agreed: (i) to 

certain arrangements allocating potential liabilities (“IRI Liabilities”) 

that may arise out of or in connection with the IRI action and (ii) to 

conduct a joint defense of such action. In particular, the Indemnity 

and Joint Defense Agreement provides that ACNielsen will assume 

exclusive liability for IRI Liabilities up to a maximum amount to 

be calculated at such time such liabilities, if any, become payable 

(the “ACN Maximum Amount”), and that Donnelley and Cognizant 

will share liability equally for any amounts in excess of the ACN 

Maximum Amount. The ACN Maximum Amount will be deter-

mined by an investment banking firm as the maximum amount 

which ACNielsen is able to pay after giving effect to (i) any plan 

submitted by such investment bank which is designed to maximize 

the claims paying ability of ACNielsen without impairing the invest-

ment banking firm’s ability to deliver a viability opinion (but which 

will not require any action requiring stockholder approval), and (ii) 

payment of related fees and expenses. For these purposes, financial 

viability means the ability of ACNielsen, after giving effect to such 

plan, the payment of related fees and expenses, and the payment 

of the ACN Maximum Amount, to pay its debts as they become 

due and to finance the current and anticipated operating and capital 

requirements of its business, as reconstituted by such plan, for two 

years from the date any such plan is expected to be implemented. On 

February 19, 2001, ACNielsen announced that it had merged with 

VNU N.V. Pursuant to the Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreement, 

VNU is to be included with ACNielsen for purposes of determining 

the ACN Maximum Amount, and VNU must assume ACNielsen’s 

liabilities under that agreement.

In June 1998, Donnelley completed a distribution to its share-

holders (the “1998 Distribution”) of the capital stock of Old 

D&B and changed its name to R.H. Donnelley Corporation. In 

connection with the 1998 Distribution, Old D&B and Donnelley 

entered into an agreement (the “1998 Distribution Agreement”) 

whereby Old D&B assumed all potential liabilities of Donnelley 

arising from the IRI action and agreed to indemnify Donnelley in 

connection with such potential liabilities.

During 1998, Cognizant separated into two new companies, 

IMS Health Incorporated (“IMS”) and Nielsen Media Research, 

Inc. (“NMR”). IMS and NMR are each jointly and severally 

liable for all Cognizant liabilities under the Indemnity and Joint 

Defense Agreement.

Under the terms of the 2000 Distribution Agreement, as a 

condition to the 2000 Distribution, the Company undertook 

to be jointly and severally liable with Moody’s for Old D&B’s 

obligations to Donnelley under the 1998 Distribution Agreement, 

including any liabilities arising under the Indemnity and Joint 

Defense Agreement. However, as between themselves, each of 

the Company and Moody’s will be responsible for 50% of any 

payments to be made with respect to the IRI action pursuant to 

the 1998 Distribution Agreement, including legal fees or expenses 

related thereto.
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Management is unable to predict at this time the final outcome 

of the IRI action or whether the resolution of this matter could 

materially affect the Company’s results of operations, cash flows or 

financial position.

Tax Matters

Old D&B and its predecessors have entered into global tax planning 

initiatives in the normal course of business, principally through tax 

free restructurings of both their foreign and domestic operations. 

These initiatives are subject to normal review by tax authorities. It is 

possible that additional liabilities may be proposed by tax authorities 

as a result of these reviews and that some of the reviews could be 

resolved unfavorably. At this time, management is unable to predict 

the extent of such reviews, the outcome thereof or whether the 

resolution of these matters could materially affect the Company’s 

results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

Pursuant to the 2000 Distribution Agreement, the Company and 

Moody’s agreed to each be financially responsible for 50% of 

any potential liabilities that may arise with respect to the reviews 

described above, to the extent such potential liabilities are not directly 

attributable to their respective business operations.

The IRS has completed its review of the utilization of certain capital 

losses generated during 1989 and 1990. On June 26, 2000, the IRS, 

as part of its audit process, issued a formal assessment with respect 

to the utilization of these capital losses and Old D&B responded 

by filing a petition for a refund in the U.S. District Court for the 

District of Columbia on September 21, 2000.

Pursuant to a series of agreements, IMS Health and NMR are jointly 

and severally liable to pay one-half, and Donnelley the other half, 

of any payments for taxes and accrued interest arising from this 

matter and certain other potential tax liabilities after Donnelley pays 

the first $137 million.

In connection with the 1998 Distribution, Old D&B and Donnelley 

entered into an agreement whereby Old D&B has assumed all 

potential liabilities of Donnelley arising from these tax matters 

and has agreed to indemnify Donnelley in connection with such 

potential liabilities.

On May 12, 2000, an amended tax return was filed for the 1989 and 

1990 tax periods, which reflects $561.6 million of tax and interest 

due. Old D&B paid the IRS $349.3 million of this amount on 

May 12, 2000, which Old D&B funded with short-term borrowings. 

IMS Health has informed Old D&B that it paid to the IRS $212.3 

million on May 17, 2000. The payments were made to the IRS to 

stop further interest from accruing. Notwithstanding the filing and 

payment, the Company is contesting the IRS’s formal assessment and 

would also contest the assessment of amounts, if any, in excess of 

the amounts paid. Old D&B and the Company have accrued their 

anticipated share of the probable liability arising from the utilization 

of these capital losses.

Note 16 Supplemental Financial Data
Other Current Assets:  

Property, Plant and Equipment – Net, carried at cost: 

Other Income (Expense) – Net:

 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

 2000 1999 1998
Other expense $ (4.1) $ (2.9) $ (2.2)
Litigation settlement  10.1  11.9  — 
  $ 6.0 $ 9.0 $ (2.2)

 At December 31,
 2000  1999
Deferred taxes   $ 31.2 $ 17.2
Prepaid expenses    50.4  116.0
Other    10.6  .4
    $ 92.2 $ 133.6

 At December 31,
 2000  1999
Buildings   $ 157.7 $ 170.9
Machinery and equipment    339.9  352.6
     497.6  523.5
Less: accumulated depreciation   328.0  320.6
     169.6  202.9
Leasehold improvements, less: accumulated 
 amortization of $33.9 and $34.1  8.5  10.3
Land    24.7  27.1
    $ 202.8 $ 240.3
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: Computer Software and Goodwill – Net: 

Note 17 Segment Information
In accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of 

an Enterprise and Related Information” the segment information is 

being reported consistent with the Company’s method of internal 

reporting, which excludes divested operations from the segments. 

Effective January 1, 2000, responsibility for the management of the 

Canadian business was moved from the Asia Pacific/Latin America 

segment to its U.S. segment, now referred to as its North America seg-

ment. All prior years’ segment information has been restated to reflect 

the change. The Company’s reportable segments are North America, 

Europe/Africa/Middle East (“Europe”) and Asia Pacific/Latin America 

(“APLA”). The three Dun & Bradstreet segments, managed on a 

geographical basis, provide business-to-business credit, marketing 

and purchasing information solutions and receivable management 

services. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those 

described in Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. The 

Company evaluates performance and allocates resources based on 

segment operating income. Intersegment sales are immaterial and no 

single customer accounted for 10% or more of total revenues.

  Computer
 Software Goodwill 
January 1, 1999 $ 142.5 $ 190.5
Additions at cost  70.5  .7
Amortization  (63.0)  (5.9)
Other deductions and reclassifications  (.2)  (18.7)(1)

December 31, 1999  149.8  166.6
Additions at cost  41.7  —
Amortization  (64.1)  (5.2)
Other deductions and reclassifications  3.9  (25.9)(1)

December 31, 2000 $ 131.3 $ 135.5

January 1, 1998 $ 11.6
Additions charged to costs and expenses  7.5
Write-offs  (5.2)
December 31, 1998  13.9
Additions charged to costs and expenses  8.3
Write-offs  (4.8)
December 31, 1999  17.4
Additions charged to costs and expenses  8.3
Write-offs  (6.2)
December 31, 2000 $ 19.5

(1) Impact of foreign currency fluctuations. 

   Year Ended December 31,
  2000 1999 1998 

Operating Revenues:
 North America $ 968.3 $ 920.0 $ 929.6
 Europe  382.1  420.6  427.7 
 APLA  67.2  67.1  61.5 
          Total Divisions  1,417.6  1,407.7  1,418.8
 All Other           —             —  1.7 
Consolidated Total $ 1,417.6 $ 1,407.7 $ 1,420.5 

Operating Income (Loss):
 North America $ 287.6 $ 255.4 $ 266.5 
 Europe  (.9)  (8.9)  (4.2)
 APLA  (4.6)  (7.3)  (11.7) 
          Total Divisions  282.1  239.2  250.6
 All Other(1)  (109.3)  (78.3)  (62.9)
Consolidated Total  172.8  160.9  187.7
 Non-Operating Expense - Net  (21.1)  (15.5)  (30.4)
Income from Continuing Operations before Provision for Income Taxes $ 151.7 $ 145.4 $ 157.3 

Depreciation and Amortization:(2)   
 North America $  63.1 $  65.8 $    61.9
 Europe  39.4  52.8  55.1
 APLA  4.1  5.3  5.6
          Total Divisions  106.6  123.9  122.6
 All Other  4.6  4.0  3.6 
Consolidated Total $ 111.2 $ 127.9 $ 126.2 

Capital Expenditures:   
 North America $    13.4 $    15.5 $ 20.6
 Europe  7.6  15.7  19.9
 APLA  2.2  2.3  5.2 
          Total Divisions  23.2  33.5  45.7
 All Other  .9  .8  1.5 
 Consolidated Total $ 24.1 $ 34.3 $ 47.2 
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(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

   Year Ended December 31,
  2000 1999 1998 

Additions to Computer Software and Other Intangibles:   
 North America $ 33.2 $ 40.7 $ 44.5
 Europe  5.0  27.9  35.8
 APLA  1.6  .4  .8
          Total Divisions  39.8  69.0  81.1
 All Other  3.2  6.3  6.1
Consolidated Total $ 43.0 $ 75.3 $ 87.2

Assets:   
 North America $ 437.3 $ 432.4 $ 426.7
 Europe  447.5  536.6  599.9
 APLA  52.0  50.3  51.5
          Total Divisions  936.8  1,019.3  1,078.1
 All Other (primarily domestic pensions and taxes)  486.8  555.5  496.6
Consolidated Total $ 1,423.6 $ 1,574.8 $ 1,574.7

Supplemental Geographic and Product Line Information:   
Operating Revenues:   
 United States $  938.7 $   891.5 $   904.2
 International  478.9  516.2  516.3
Consolidated Total $ 1,417.6 $ 1,407.7 $ 1,420.5

Long-Lived Assets:   
 United States $   478.1 $   433.3 $   399.2
 International  313.8  399.8  441.3
Consolidated Total $   791.9 $   833.1 $   840.5

Product Line Revenues:
 North America:
    Credit Information Solutions $   580.1 $   581.0 $   618.2
    Marketing Information Solutions  259.8  230.1  219.5
    Purchasing Information Solutions  28.5  27.1  23.0
    Receivable Management Services  99.9  81.8  68.9
          Total North America  968.3  920.0  929.6

 Europe:   
    Credit Information Solutions  266.4  297.4  312.9
    Marketing Information Solutions  67.6  72.2  65.2
    Purchasing Information Solutions  2.1  1.4  -
    Receivable Management Services  46.0  49.6  49.6
          Total Europe  382.1  420.6  427.7

 APLA:   
    Credit Information Solutions  39.9  43.6  37.6
    Marketing Information Solutions  12.0  9.9  10.1
    Receivable Management Services  15.3  13.6  13.8 
          Total APLA  67.2  67.1  61.5

 Total Divisions:      
    Credit Information Solutions  886.4  922.0  968.7
    Marketing Information Solutions  339.4  312.2  294.8
    Purchasing Information Solutions  30.6  28.5  23.0
    Receivable Management Services  161.2  145.0  132.3
          Total Divisions $ 1,417.6 $ 1,407.7 $ 1,418.8

   Year Ended December 31, 
  2000 1999 1998
Operating Loss:
 Corporate and other $ (38.3) $ (37.1) $ (34.9)
 Restructuring expense  (41.5)  (41.2)  —
 Reorganization costs  (29.5)  —  (28.0)
          Total “All Other” $ (109.3) $ (78.3) $ (62.9)

(1) The following table itemizes “All Other”: (2) Includes depreciation and amortization of Property, Plant and Equipment, Computer 
Software, Goodwill and Other Intangibles.
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    Three Months Ended 
   March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Year
2000
Operating Revenues:
 North America $ 253.2 $ 232.5 $ 229.6 $ 253.0 $ 968.3
 Europe  88.8  99.1  88.0  106.2  382.1
 APLA  14.5  16.2  17.3  19.2  67.2
Consolidated Operating Revenues $ 356.5 $ 347.8 $  334.9 $ 378.4 $ 1,417.6
Operating Income (Loss): 
 North America $ 79.2 $ 61.6 $ 64.4 $ 82.4 $ 287.6
 Europe  (13.3)  (2.3)  (3.7)  18.4  (.9)
 APLA  (3.7)  (2.2)  (.2)  1.5  (4.6) 
 Total Divisions  62.2  57.1  60.5  102.3  282.1
 All Other(1)  (9.3)  (11.1)  (36.3)  (52.6)  (109.3)
Consolidated Operating Income $ 52.9 $  46.0 $ 24.2 $ 49.7 $ 172.8
Income:
 Continuing Operations, Net of Income Taxes(2) $ 27.0 $ 21.1 $ 7.1 $ 18.4 $ 73.6
 Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes  40.8  46.8  45.4  —  133.0
Net Income $ 67.8 $ 67.9 $ 52.5 $ 18.4 $ 206.6
Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock(4):          
 Continuing Operations $ .33 $ .26 $ .09 $ .23 $ .91
 Discontinued Operations  .51  .58  .56  —  1.64
Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock $ .84 $ .84 $ .65 $ .23 $ 2.55
Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:          
 Continuing Operations $ .33 $ .26 $ .09 $ .22 $ .90
 Discontinued Operations  .50  .57  .55  —  1.62
Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock $ .83 $ .83 $ .64 $ .22 $ 2.52

1999          
Operating Revenues:          
 North America $ 241.6 $ 226.6 $ 219.3 $ 232.5 $ 920.0
 Europe  98.8  105.7  96.9  119.2  420.6
 APLA  13.6  17.5  18.2  17.8  67.1
Consolidated Operating Revenues $ 354.0 $ 349.8 $ 334.4 $ 369.5 $ 1,407.7
Operating Income (Loss):          
 North America $ 70.5 $ 54.5 $ 56.8 $ 73.6 $ 255.4
 Europe  (15.1)  (2.6)  (7.2)  16.0  (8.9)
 APLA  (3.8)  (2.3)  (.5)  (.7)  (7.3)
 Total Divisions  51.6  49.6  49.1  88.9  239.2
 All Other(1)  (12.1)  (8.3)  (5.7)  (52.2)  (78.3)
Consolidated Operating Income $ 39.5 $ 41.3 $ 43.4 $ 36.7 $ 160.9
Income:
 Continuing Operations, Net of Income Taxes(3) $ 19.4 $ 19.9 $ 21.5 $ 20.5 $ 81.3
 Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes  41.0  46.5  44.6  42.6  174.7
Net Income $ 60.4 $ 66.4 $ 66.1 $ 63.1 $ 256.0
Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock(4):
 Continuing Operations $ .24 $ .24 $ .27 $ .25 $ 1.00
 Discontinued Operations  .49  .58  .55  .53  2.16
Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock $ .73 $ .82 $ .82 $ .78 $ 3.16
Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock(4):
 Continuing Operations $ .23 $ .24 $ .26 $ .25 $ .99
 Discontinued Operations  .49  .57  .55  .53  2.13
Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock $ .72 $ .81 $ .81 $ .78 $ 3.12

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Note 18 Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

(2) Income from Continuing Operations, Net of Income Taxes included after-tax reorganiza-
tion costs of $2.2 million, $22.8 million and $.6 million incurred in the quarters ended June 
30, September 30 and December 31, 2000, respectively, an after-tax gain on the settlement of 
outstanding litigation of $6.2 million in the quarter ended September 30, 2000, and after-tax 
restructuring expenses of $30.3 million in the quarter ended December 31, 2000.

(3) Income from Continuing Operations, Net of Income Taxes included an after-tax gain 
on the settlement of litigation of $6.6 million and after-tax restructuring expenses of $27.9 
million in the quarter ended December 31, 1999.

(4) The number of weighted average shares outstanding changes as common shares are issued 
for employee plans and other purposes or as shares are repurchased. For this reason, the sum 
of quarterly earnings per share may not be the same as earnings per share for the year.

   Three Months Ended   
 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Year
Operating Loss:
2000:
 Restructuring expense $ — $ — $ — $ (41.5) $ (41.5)
 Reorganization costs  —  (2.2)  (26.4)  (.9)  (29.5)
 Corporate and other  (9.3)  (8.9)  (9.9)  (10.2)  (38.3)
Total $ (9.3) $ (11.1) $ (36.3) $ (52.6) $(109.3)
1999:
 Restructuring expense $ — $ — $ — $ (41.2) $ (41.2)
 Corporate and other  (12.1)  (8.3)  (5.7)  (11.0)  (37.1)
Total $ (12.1) $ (8.3) $ (5.7) $ (52.2) $ (78.3)

(1) The following table itemizes the components of the “All Other” category of Operating 
Income (Loss):
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(1) 2000 included charges of $41.5 million for restructuring in connection with the 
new business strategy, The Blueprint for Growth, and $29.5 million for reorganization 
costs associated with the 2000 Distribution. 1999 included a charge of $41.2 million in 
conjunction with restructuring. 1998 included a charge of $28.0 million for reorganization 
costs associated with the 1998 Distribution. 1996 included charges of $161.2 million for 
reorganization costs associated with the 1996 Distribution and a loss of $68.2 million on the 
sale of American Credit Indemnity, a former subsidiary of Donnelley.

(2) 2000 and 1999 included gains related to the settlement of litigation of $10.1 million and 
$11.9 million, respectively. See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

(3) Income taxes on Discontinued Operations were $86.2 million, $114.8 million, $104.7 
million, $123.1 million and $197.1 million in 2000, 1999, 1998, 1997 and 1996, 
respectively.

(4) 1997 included the impact of a change in revenue recognition policies.

(5) 2000 included dividends paid and declared through the first three quarters of the year.

(6) The exercise of dilutive shares has not been assumed for the year ended December 31, 
1996, since the result is antidilutive.

(7) Included Net Assets of Discontinued Operations of $162.3 million and $459.5 million 
in 1997 and 1996, respectively.

   2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
  (Amounts in millions, except per share data)
Results of Operations:  
  Operating Revenues $ 1,417.6 $ 1,407.7 $ 1,420.5 $ 1,353.6 $ 1,397.1
 Costs and Expenses(1) 1,244.8 1,246.8 1,232.8 1,146.4 1,478.2 

Operating Income 172.8 160.9 187.7 207.2 (81.1) 
 Non-Operating Expense — Net(2) (21.1) (15.5) (30.4) (71.5) (70.8) 
 Income from Continuing Operations before
     Provision for Income Taxes 151.7 145.4 157.3 135.7 (151.9)
 Provision for Income Taxes 78.1 64.1 71.1 42.5 50.1
  Income (Loss) from:    
     Continuing Operations 73.6 81.3 86.2 93.2 (202.0)
     Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes(3) 133.0 174.7 193.9 217.8 158.2
 Income (Loss) before Cumulative Effect of  Accounting Changes 206.6 256.0 280.1 311.0 (43.8)
 Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes, Net of
  Income Tax Benefit(4)  —  —  — (127.0)  —
 Net Income (Loss) $ 206.6 $ 256.0 $ 280.1 $ 184.0 $ (43.8)

Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share of Common Stock:
  Continuing Operations $ .91 $ 1.00 $ 1.02 $ 1.09 $ (2.38)
  Discontinued Operations 1.64 2.16 2.29 2.55 1.86
  Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes 2.55 3.16 3.31 3.64 (.52)
  Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes, Net
     of Income Tax Benefit(4)  —  —  — (1.49)  —
Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share of Common Stock $ 2.55 $ 3.16 $ 3.31 $ 2.15 $ (.52)

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share of Common Stock:      
 Continuing Operations $ .90 $ .99 $ 1.00 $ 1.08 $ (2.38)
  Discontinued Operations 1.62 2.13 2.26 2.52 1.86
  Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes 2.52 3.12 3.26 3.60 (.52)
  Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes, Net
     of Income Tax Benefit(4)  —  —  — (1.47)  —
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share of Common Stock $ 2.52 $ 3.12 $ 3.26 $ 2.13 $ (.52)

Other Data:     
 Dividends Paid Per Share(5) $ .555 $ .74 $ .81 $ .88 $ 1.82
 Dividends Declared Per Share(5) $ .555 $ .74 $ .775 $ 1.10 $ 1.82
 Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding:
    Basic 81.0 81.1 84.7 85.4 85.0
    Diluted(6) 82.0 82.1 85.9 86.3 85.0

Balance Sheet:    
  Total Assets(7) $ 1,423.6 $ 1,574.8 $ 1,574.7 $ 1,729.4 $ 1,992.9
  Minority Interest Financing $ 300.0 $ 300.0 $ 300.0 $ 300.0 $  –
  Equity $ (51.0) $ (416.6) $ (371.0) $ (527.7) $ (455.3)
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O U R  V A L U E S

� Treat all people with respect and dignity; 
value differences.

� Pursue an unrelenting quest for quality; 
use speed and simplicity to achieve goals.

� Conduct ourselves with the highest level of 
integrity and business ethics.

� Place the interests of customers first; 
our success depends on their success.

� Commit to teamwork ; seek out and utilize the 
ideas and skills of all associates. 

� Reach for the highest standards of 
performance ; show a passion for winning. 

All our activities and decisions must be based on, and guided by, these values:

By behaving in accordance with these values, we will provide outstanding 

service to our customers, maintain a leadership position in our business, improve 

satisfaction for our associates and provide superior value to our shareholders. 
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Corporate Office
One Diamond Hill Road
Murray Hill, New Jersey 07974-1218
Telephone: (908) 665-5000
http://www.dnb.com

Transfer Agent, Registrar
EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.
P.O. Box 2500
Jersey City, New Jersey  07303-2500
Telephone: (800) 519-3111 Within the U.S.
Telephone: (201) 324-1225 Outside of the U.S.
Fax: (201) 222-4842
Hearing Impaired: (201) 222-4955
Online Shareholder Account Information: 
http://www.equiserve.com

Independent Accountants
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1301 Avenue of the Americas
New York, New York  10019-6013

Form 10-K
The Company filed its annual report on Form 10-K with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on February 22, 2001.  
A copy of the Form 10-K is available without charge upon 
request to the Communications Department at the Corporate 
Office above.

Common Stock Information
The Company’s common stock (symbol DNB)
is listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

Dun & Bradstreet

C O N T A C T S


	Introduction
	Table of Contents
	Letter to Our Shareholders
	Strategic Objectives
	Leverage the Brand 
	Create Financial Flexibility 
	Enhance the Current Business 
	Become an Important Player in B2B e-Commerce 
	Build a Winning Culture 

	Financial Review
	Consolidated Statements of Operations 
	Consolidated Balance Sheets 
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
	Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity 

	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
	Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
	Note 2 - Reorganization and Discontinued Operations 
	Note 3 - Summary of Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
	Note 4 - Restructuring 
	Note 5 - Non-Recurring Items 
	Note 6 - Reconciliation of Weighted Average Shares 
	Note 7 - Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risks 
	Note 8 - Pension & Postretirement Benefits 
	Note 9 - Employee Stock Plans 
	Note 10 - Income Taxes 
	Note 11 - Notes Payable and Other Indebtedness 
	Note 12 - Investment Partnership 
	Note 13 - Capital Stock 
	Note 14 - Lease Commitments 
	Note 15 - Contingencies 
	Note 16 - Supplemental Financial Data 
	Note 17 - Segment Information 
	Note 18 - Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

	Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
	Forward-Looking Statements 
	Report of Independent Accountants 
	Statement of Management Responsibility for Financial Statements 
	Five-Year Selected Financial Data 

	Corporate Information
	Directors & Officers
	Our Values 
	Contacts




